THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION

If you are in any doubt as to any aspect of the Offer, this Composite Offer Document and/or the accompanying Form of Acceptance or as to the action to
be taken, you should consult your licensed securities dealer or registered institution in securities, bank manager, solicitor, professional accountant or other
professional adviser.

If you have sold or transferred all your shares in KTL International Holdings Group Limited, you should at once hand this Composite Offer Document
and the accompanying Form of Acceptance to the purchaser(s) or the transferee(s) or to the bank, licensed securities dealer or registered institution in
securities or other agent through whom the sale or transfer was effected for transmission to the purchaser(s) or the transferee(s).

This Composite Offer Document should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Form of Acceptance, the contents of which form part of the terms
and conditions of the Offer contained in this Composite Offer Document.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited, The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited take no
responsibility for the contents of this Composite Offer Document and the accompanying Form of Acceptance, make no representation as to their accuracy
or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this Composite Offer Document and the accompanying Form of Acceptance.
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A letter from CCBI containing, amongst other things, details of the terms and conditions of the Offer is set out on pages 5 to 13 of this Composite Offer
Document. A letter from the Board is set out on pages 14 to 19 of this Composite Offer Document. A letter from the Independent Board Committee
containing its recommendation to the Independent Shareholders in respect of the Offer is set out on pages 20 to 21 of this Composite Offer Document. A
letter from the Independent Financial Adviser containing its advice and recommendation to the Independent Board Committee in respect of the Offer is set
out on pages 22 to 41 of this Composite Offer Document.

The procedures for acceptance and settlement of the Offer are set out in Appendix I to this Composite Offer Document and in the accompanying Form of
Acceptance.

Acceptances of the Offer should be received by the Registrar by no later than 4:00 p.m. on 17 February 2017 or such later time and/or date as the Offeror
may determine and announce with the consent of the Executive, in accordance with the Takeovers Code.

Capitalised terms used in this cover page shall have the same meanings as those defined in the section headed “DEFINITIONS” in this Composite Offer
Document.

27 January 2017
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EXPECTED TIMETABLE

The timetable set out below is indicative and is subject to change. Any changes to the

timetable will be jointly announced by the Offeror and the Company as and when appropriate.
All the time and date references contained in this Composite Offer Document refer to Hong
Kong time and dates.

Event Time & Date

Despatch date of this Composite Offer Document
and the accompanying Form of
Acceptance and commencement of the Offer (Note 1) ..................... 27 January 2017

Latest time and date for acceptance of the Offer
(Notes 2 and 3) ... e by 4:00 p.m. on

17 February 2017

Closing Date of the Offer (Note 2) ..., 17 February 2017

Announcement of the results of the Offer
on the website of the Stock Exchange and the website
of the Company (Note 2) ... by 7:00 p.m. on

17 February 2017

Latest date of posting of remittances in respect of
valid acceptances received under the Offer (Note 4) ...................... 28 February 2017

Notes:

(1)

(2)

(3)

“)

The Offer, which are unconditional in all respects, are made on 27 January 2017, the date of this Composite
Offer Document, and are capable of acceptance on and from that date until the Closing Date.

The Offer must remain open for acceptance for at least 21 days following the date on which this Composite
Offer Document is posted. The Offer will be closed at 4:00 p.m. on 17 February 2017 unless the Offeror
revises or extends the Offer in accordance with the Takeovers Code. An announcement will be jointly issued
by the Company and the Offeror through the website of the Stock Exchange by 7:00 p.m. on the Closing Date
stating the results of the Offer and whether the Offer have been revised or extended or have expired. In the
event that the Offeror decides that the Offer will remain open, the announcement will state the next closing
date of the Offer or that the Offer will remain open until further notice. In the latter case, at least 14 days’
notice in writing will be given, before the Offer is closed, to those Independent Shareholders who have not
accepted the Offer.

Acceptance of the Offer shall be irrevocable and is not capable of being withdrawn, except in the
circumstances as set out in the paragraph headed “RIGHT OF WITHDRAWAL” in Appendix I to this
Composite Offer Document.

Remittances in respect of acceptance of the Offer (after deducting the seller’s ad valorem stamp duty) will be
made as soon as possible but in any event within seven Business Days of the date on which the duly
completed acceptance of the Offer and the relevant documents of title of the Shares in respect of such
acceptance are received by or for the Offeror to render each such acceptance of any of the Offer complete and
valid. Remittances in respect of acceptance of the Offer will be despatched to the accepting Independent
Shareholders by ordinary post at their own risk.

— 11 =



EXPECTED TIMETABLE

(%)

If there is a tropical cyclone warning signal number 8 or above, or a black rainstorm warning:

(a)

(b)

in force in Hong Kong at any local time before 12:00 noon but no longer in force after 12:00 noon on
the latest date for acceptance of the Offer, the latest time for acceptance of the Offer will remain at 4:00
p.m. on the same Business Day;

in force in Hong Kong at any local time between 12:00 noon and 4:00 p.m. on the latest date for
acceptance of the Offer, the latest time for acceptance of the Offer will be rescheduled to 4:00 p.m. on
the following Business Day.

— il —



IMPORTANT NOTICE

NOTICE TO THE OVERSEAS SHAREHOLDERS

The making of the Offer to persons with a registered address in jurisdictions outside Hong
Kong may be prohibited or affected by the laws of the relevant jurisdictions. Overseas
Shareholders who are citizens or residents or nationals of jurisdictions outside Hong Kong
should inform themselves about and observe any applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
It is the responsibility of any such person who wishes to accept the Offer to satisfy himself/
herself/itself as to the full observance of the laws and regulations of the relevant jurisdiction in
connection therewith, including the obtaining of any governmental, exchange control or other
consents which may be required or the compliance with other necessary formalities or legal
and regulatory requirements and the payment of any transfer or other taxes or other required
payments due in respect of such jurisdiction. The Offeror, the Company, CCBI, HKICM, the
Independent Financial Adviser, China Galaxy International Securities (Hong Kong) Co.,
Limited, the Registrar, their respective ultimate beneficial owners, directors, officers, agents,
advisers and associates and any other person involved in the Offers shall be entitled to be fully
indemnified and held harmless by such person for any taxes as such person may be required to
pay. Please see the paragraph headed “Overseas Shareholders” in the “LETTER FROM
CCBI” in this Composite Offer Document.

—iv —



DEFINITIONS

In this Composite Offer Document, unless the context otherwise requires, the following
expressions have the following meanings:

“acting in concert”
“associate(s)”
“Board”

“Business Day(s)”

“BVI”

“CCASS”

“CCBI”

“Closing Date”

“Company”

“Completion™

“Composite Offer Document”

“Consideration”

“Director(s)”

has the meaning ascribed to it in the Takeovers Code
has the meaning ascribed to it in the Takeovers Code
the board of Directors

a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the
transaction of business

the British Virgin Islands

the Central Clearing and Settlement System established and
operated by Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company
Limited

CCB International Capital Limited, a licensed corporation
to carry out business in type 1 (dealing in securities), type 4
(advising on securities) and type 6 (advising on corporate
finance) regulated activities under the SFO, a co-financial
adviser to HNA Aviation Investment Holding Company Ltd

17 February 2017, being the closing date of the Offer which
is 21 days following the date on which this Composite
Offer Document was posted (or such other date as revised
or extended in accordance with the Takeovers Code)

KTL International Holdings Group Limited, a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
and the Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 442)

completion of the sale and purchase of the Sale Shares in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Sale and
Purchase Agreement

this composite offer and response document dated 27
January 2017 jointly issued by the Offeror and the
Company to all Shareholders in accordance with the
Takeovers Code containing, among others, details of the
Offer

the total consideration for the sale and purchase of the Sale
Shares payable by the Purchaser to the Vendor

the director(s) of the Company



DEFINITIONS

“Encumbrances”

“Executive”

“Form of Acceptance”

“Group”

“Guarantors”

“HKICM”

“Hong Kong”

“Independent Board
Committee™

“Independent Financial
Adviser”

“Independent Shareholder(s)”

“Joint Announcement’

any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien, (otherwise than arising
by statute or operation of law), equities, hypothecation or
other encumbrance, priority or security interest, deferred
purchase, title retention, leasing, sale-and-repurchase or
sale-and-leaseback arrangement whatsoever over or in any
property, assets or rights of whatsoever nature and includes
any agreement for any of the same

the Executive Director of the Corporate Finance Division of
the SFC or any delegate of the Executive Director, as
defined in the Takeovers Code

the form of acceptance and transfer of the Offer Shares in
respect of the Offer (accompanying this Composite Offer
Document)

the Company together with the subsidiaries and the
expressions ‘‘member of the Group” and ‘‘Group
Company” shall be construed accordingly

Kei York Pang Victor and Li Man Chun

Hong Kong International Capital Management Limited, a
licensed corporation to carry on Type 4 (advising on
securities), Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) and
Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the
SFO, a co-financial adviser to the Offeror

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

the independent board committee, comprising all
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ting Tit
Cheung, Mr. Chan Chi Kuen and Mr. Lo Chun Pong, which
has been established by the Company to advise the
Independent Shareholders in respect of the Offer

Veda Capital Limited, a corporation licensed to conduct
Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activities
under the SFO, the independent financial adviser to the
Independent Board Committee in respect of the Offer

in respect of the Offer, the Shareholder(s) other than the
Offeror and parties acting in concert with it

the announcement dated 21 December 2016 jointly issued
by the Company and the Offeror, in relation to, among
other things, the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the
Offer



DEFINITIONS

“Last Trading Day”

“Latest Practicable Date”

“Listing Rules™

“Nansha Property”

“Offer”

“Offer Period”

“Offer Price”

“Offer Share(s)”

“Offeror” or “Purchaser” or
“HNA Aviation Investment”

“Overseas Shareholders”

“PRC”

13 December 2016, being the last trading day for the Shares
immediately prior to the suspension in the trading of the
Shares on the Stock Exchange pending the publication of
the Joint Announcement

24 January 2017, being the latest practicable date prior to
the printing of this Composite Offer Document for
ascertaining certain information contained herein

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange

the property located in Nansha District, Guangzhou,
Guangdong Province, the PRC owned by the Group which
remained under development as at the Latest Practicable
Date

the mandatory unconditional cash offer to be made by CCBI
for and on behalf of the Offeror for all the issued Shares
(other than those already owned or agreed to be acquired by
the Offeror) in compliance with the Takeovers Code

the period from the date of the Joint Announcement until
the Closing Date, or such other time and/or date to which
the Offeror may decide to extend or revise the Offer in
accordance with the Takeovers Code

the price at which the Offer will be made, being HK$6.05
per Offer Share

all the issued Shares other than those already owned or
agreed to be acquired by the Offeror when the Offer is
made

HNA Aviation Investment Holding Company Ltd, a
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability, and an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
HNA Group Co., Ltd.

Independent Shareholders whose addresses, as shown on the
register of members of the Company, are outside Hong
Kong

The People’s Republic of China (excluding Hong Kong, the
Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and
Taiwan)



DEFINITIONS

“Registrar”

“Relevant Period”

“Sale and Purchase Agreement”

“Sale Shares”

“SFC”

“SFO”

“Share(s)”

“Shareholder(s)”
“Stock Exchange”
“Takeovers Code”

“Vendor”

<LHK$”
“RMB 29

“US$”

“%7’

Tricor Investor Services Limited, the Hong Kong branch
share registrar of the Company, situated at Level 22,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong

the period from 21 June 2016, being the date falling six
months preceding the commencement of the Offer Period,
up to and including the Latest Practicable Date

the conditional sale and purchase agreement dated 13
December 2016 entered into amongst the Vendor, the
Purchaser and the Guarantors in respect of the sale and
purchase of the Sale Shares

98,304,016 Shares (representing approximately 61.44% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at the Latest
Practicable Date), acquired by the Offeror from the Vendor
pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement

the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong)

share(s) of HKS$0.005 each in the share capital of the
Company

the holder(s) of issued Shares
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers

KTL International Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the BVI, being the vendor of the Sale
Shares

Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

United States dollar, the lawful currency for the time being
of the United States of America

per cent



LETTER FROM CCBI
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CCB International
CCB INTERNATIONAL CAPITAL LIMITED

27 January 2017
To the Independent Shareholders

Dear Sir or Madam,

COMPOSITE OFFER AND RESPONSE DOCUMENT RELATING TO
THE MANDATORY UNCONDITIONAL CASH OFFER BY
CCB INTERNATIONAL CAPITAL LIMITED
FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE OFFEROR
TO ACQUIRE ALL THE ISSUED SHARES IN THE SHARE CAPITAL OF
KTL INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED
(OTHER THAN THOSE SHARES ALREADY OWNED
OR AGREED TO BE ACQUIRED BY
HNA AVIATION INVESTMENT HOLDING COMPANY LTD)

INTRODUCTION

On 21 December 2016, the Offeror and the Company jointly announced that, on 13
December 2016, the Offeror, the Vendor and the Guarantors entered into the Sale and Purchase
Agreement, pursuant to which the Vendor agreed to sell and the Offeror agreed to purchase the
Sales Shares (representing approximately 61.44% of the entire issued share capital of the
Company as at the Latest Practicable Date) for an aggregate consideration of HK$594,739,297
(equivalent to approximately HK$6.05 per Sale Share) payable in accordance with the Sale and
Purchase Agreement.

As part of the consideration under the Sale and Purchase Agreement will be settled after
Completion as disclosed in the Joint Announcement, the Vendor is presumed to be acting in
concert with the Offeror under class (9) of the definition of ‘“acting in concert” in the
Takeovers Code.

Immediately after the Completion which took place on 29 December 2016 and as at the
Latest Practicable Date, the Offeror and the parties acting in concert with it were interested in
98,304,016 Shares (representing approximately 61.44% of the entire issued share capital of the
Company). Accordingly, the Offeror was required under Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code to
make a mandatory unconditional cash offer for all the issued Shares (other than those already
owned or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror).

This letter forms part of this Composite Offer Document and sets out, among other things,
the principal terms of the Offer, together with the information on the Offeror and its intentions
in relation to the Group. Further details of the Offer are also set out in Appendix I to this
Composite Offer Document and the accompanying Form of Acceptance.



LETTER FROM CCBI

The Independent Shareholders are strongly advised to carefully consider the information
contained in the “Letter from the Board”, the “Letter from the Independent Board Committee”
and the “Letter from the Independent Financial Adviser” and the appendices as set out in this
Composite Offer Document and to consult their professional advisers before reaching a
decision as to whether or not to accept the Offer.

THE OFFER

CCBI, on behalf of the Offeror and in compliance with the Takeovers Code, hereby
unconditionally make the offer to acquire all the issued Shares (other than those already owned
or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror), on the terms set out in this Composite Offer
Document in accordance with the Takeovers Code and on the following basis:

For each Offer Share accepted under the Offer......................... HK$6.05 in cash

The Offer Price of HK$6.05 for each Offer Share is equal to the purchase price paid by
the Offeror for each Sale Share under the Sale and Purchase Agreement.

On the basis that 160,000,000 Shares are in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date, the
entire issued Shares of the Company would be valued at HK$968,000,000. As at the Latest
Practicable Date, the Company did not have any outstanding options, warrants, derivatives or
securities carrying conversion or subscription rights that would affect the issued share capital
of the Company. As the Offeror owns 98,304,016 Shares, the remaining 61,695,984 Shares will
be subject to the Offer and assuming that there is no change in the number of issued share
capital of the Company prior to the Closing Date, the maximum amount of cash payable by the
Offeror in respect of the Offer would be approximately HK$373,260,703 based on the Offer
Price.

The Offer is unconditional in all respects. The Offer will be extended to all Independent
Shareholders in accordance with the Takeovers Code. The Offer Shares to be acquired under
the Offer shall be fully paid and free from all Encumbrances and together with all rights
attached thereto, including but not limited to the right to receive all dividends and distributions
which may be paid, made or declared on or after the date on which the Offer is made, being
the date of the posting of this Composite Offer Document.

Save for the Sale Shares, the Company has no outstanding warrants, options, derivatives
or securities convertible into Shares and has not entered into any agreement for the issue of
such securities, options, derivatives or warrants of the Company.

Comparison of value
The Offer Price of HK$6.05 per Offer Share represents:

(i) a premium of approximately 27.1% to the closing price of HK$4.760 per Share as
quoted on the Stock Exchange on the Last Trading Day;

TC sch 1-7
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LETTER FROM CCBI

(i) a premium of approximately 38.3% to the average closing price of approximately
HK$4.374 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last five consecutive
trading days up to and including the Last Trading Day;

(iii) a premium of approximately 42.0% to the average closing price of approximately
HK$4.261 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last 10 consecutive
trading days up to and including the Last Trading Day;

(iv) a premium of approximately 45.3% to the average closing price of approximately
HK$4.163 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last 30 consecutive
trading days up to and including the Last Trading Day;

(v) a premium of approximately 55.6% to the average closing price of approximately
HK$3.887 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last 90 consecutive
trading days up to and including the Last Trading Day;

(vi) a premium of approximately 81.8% to the average closing price of approximately
HK$3.328 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last 180 consecutive
trading days up to and including the Last Trading Day;

(vii) a premium of approximately 174.5% to the audited consolidated net asset value
attributable to the Shareholders of approximately HK$2.204 per Share as at 31 March
2016;

(viii)a premium of approximately 191.9% to the unaudited consolidated net asset value of
the Company of approximately HK$2.073 per Share as at 30 September 2016 as set
out in the interim report of the Company for the six months ended 30 September
2016; and

(ix) a premium of approximately 0.2% to the closing price of HK$6.040 per Share as
quoted on the Stock Exchange on the Latest Practicable Date.

Highest and lowest Share prices

During the Relevant Period, the highest and lowest closing prices of the Shares as quoted
on the Stock Exchange were HK$6.04 per Share on 30 December 2016, 6 January 2017, 9
January 2017 and 24 January 2017 and HK$2.94 per Share on 8 July 2016, 11 July 2016 and
12 July 2016 respectively.

Financial resources available for the Offer

The total cash consideration will be funded by the Offeror’s internal resources. There is
no arrangement in relation to any facilities under which the payment of interest on, repayment
of or security for any liability, contingent or otherwise, will depend, to any significant extent,
on the business of the Company.

TC sch 1-10(b)
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LETTER FROM CCBI

CCBI and HKICM have been appointed as the co-financial advisers to the Offeror in Tcschi-11
respect of the Offer. CCBI and HKICM, as co-financial advisers to the Offeror, are satisfied
that sufficient financial resources are available to the Offeror to satisfy the amount of funds
required for the full acceptance of the Offer.

Payment

Payment in cash in respect of acceptances of the Offer will be made as soon as possible
but in any event within seven (7) business days (within the meaning of the Takeovers Code) of
the date on which the duly completed acceptances of the Offer and the relevant documents of
title in respect of such acceptances are received by the Offeror (or its agent) to render each
such acceptance of the Offer complete and valid.

Effect of accepting the Offer

By accepting the Offer, the Independent Shareholders will sell their Shares free from all tcsehi-6
Encumbrances and together with all rights attached thereto, including but not limited to the
right to receive all dividends and distributions which may be paid, made or declared on or after
the date on which the Offer is made, being the date of the posting of this Composite Offer
Document.

Acceptance of the Offer by any Independent Shareholder will be deemed to constitute a
warranty by such person that all the Shares sold by such person under the Offer are free from
all Encumbrances and with all rights attached thereto, including but not limited to the right to
receive all dividends and distributions which may be paid, made or declared on or after the
date on which the Offer is made. From the date of the Joint Announcement up to the Latest
Practicable Date, there was no dividend or distribution declared, paid or made by the
Company.

The Offer is unconditional in all respects and will remain open for acceptance from the
date of this Composite Offer Document until 4:00 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on the Closing Date
unless the Offeror revises or extends the Offer in accordance with the Takeovers Code.
Acceptance of the Offer tendered by the Independent Shareholders shall be unconditional and
irrevocable once given and cannot be withdrawn except as permitted under the Takeovers
Code.

Hong Kong stamp duty

The seller’s Hong Kong ad valorem stamp duty on acceptances of the Offer at a rate of Tcschi-6a

0.1% of the consideration payable in respect of the relevant acceptances by the Shareholders or
if higher, the market value of the Shares, will be deducted from the amount payable to the
Shareholders who accept the Offer. The Offeror will arrange for payment of the seller’s ad
valorem stamp duty on behalf of the relevant Shareholders accepting the Offer and pay the
buyer’s Hong Kong ad valorem stamp duty in connection with the acceptance of the Offer and
the transfer of the Shares in accordance with the Stamp Duty Ordinance (Chapter 117 of the
Laws of Hong Kong).



LETTER FROM CCBI

Taxation advice

The Independent Shareholders are recommended to consult their own professional advisers
if they are in any doubt as to the taxation implications of accepting or rejecting the Offer.
None of the Offeror and the parties acting in concert with it, the Company, and their respective
directors, officers, agents or associates or any other person involved in the Offer accepts
responsibility for any taxation effects on, or liabilities of, any persons as a result of their
acceptance or rejection of the Offer.

Overseas Shareholders

The Offeror intends to make the Offer available to all Shareholders (other than the
Offeror), including those who are residents outside Hong Kong. As the Offer to persons not
residing in Hong Kong may be affected by the laws of the relevant jurisdiction in which they
are resident, Overseas Shareholders who are citizens, residents or nationals of a jurisdiction
outside Hong Kong should obtain information about and observe any applicable legal or
regulatory requirements and, where necessary, seek legal advice in respect of the Offer.

It is the responsibility of the Overseas Shareholders who wish to accept the Offer to
satisfy themselves as to the full observance of the laws and regulations of the relevant
jurisdictions in connection with the acceptance of the Offer (including the obtaining of any
governmental or other consent which may be required or the compliance with other necessary
formalities and the payment of any transfer or other taxes due in respect of such jurisdictions).

INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY

Details of the information on the Company are set out in the “Letter from the Board” in
this Composite Offer Document.

INFORMATION OF THE OFFEROR

HNA Aviation Investment was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 30 August 2016 as
a company with limited liability and is an investment holding company established for the
purpose of holding the Sale Shares and any Shares acquired under the Offer. It is deemed to be
held as to 86.54% by HNA Group Co., Ltd. (“HNA Group”). The remaining interest in HNA
Aviation Investment is held as to 4.81% by Shanghai AJ Trust Co., Ltd.* (\EiBE @5 A R
FA{E/~F]) and as to 8.65% by Shanghai Yihang Enterprises Management Partnership Limited,
L.P.* (iR M8 M Ak 2E A R 5 1K)), both of which are third parties independent of
HNA Aviation Investment, or any of its associates. HNA Group is held as to 70% by Hainan
Traffic Administration Holding Co., Ltd.* (¥ rg 3¢ E ¥ AH R/ F]), which is in turn held as
to 50% by Tang Dynasty Development (Yangpu) Company Limited* (5% B GFH)A RA
A]). Tang Dynasty Development (Yangpu) Company Limited* (%5 %) A RAF) is
held as to 65% by Hainan Province Cihang Foundation* (¥ Fd & Z& I/~ i J5 48 ).



LETTER FROM CCBI

HNA Group is a PRC conglomerate encompassing core divisions of tourism, holding,
capital, logistics and EcoTech. According to the Fortune Global 500 ranking released by the
U.S. “Fortune” magazine in 2015, HNA Group ranked No. 464 among all companies in the
world, with an annual revenue of over US$25.6 billion. In July 2016, HNA Group was listed
among Fortune Global 500 once again, ranking No. 353 with annual revenue of approximately
US $29.56 billion. The ranking rose by 111 positions compared with last year. Immediately
prior to the entering into of the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Offeror and parties acting in
concert with it did not hold any securities of the Company, and were therefore independent of
the Company and its connected persons.

OFFEROR’S INTENTION ON THE COMPANY
Reasons for the Offer

Upon Completion, HNA Aviation Investment became the controlling shareholder of the
Company and is interested in approximately 61.44% of the total issued share capital of the
Company.

HNA Group is a PRC conglomerate which invests and operates in many industries. HNA
Aviation Investment intends to leverage on the Hong Kong presence of the Company to
develop the businesses of HNA Group and to formulate business strategies for the Group
following a review of the operations of the Company as further described in the section headed
“Business” below. HNA Aviation Investment considers the Offer to be in its and the
Company’s long term commercial interests.

Business

Following close of the Offer, HNA Aviation Investment intends that the Group will
continue with its existing businesses. Following close of the Offer, HNA Aviation Investment
will also conduct a review on the business operations and financial position of the Group for
the purpose of formulating business plans and strategies for the future business development of
the Group. Subject to the results of the review, HNA Aviation Investment may explore other
business opportunities for the Company such as acquisitions or investments in assets and/or
business divestment and fund raising, with a view to enhance its growth and future
development. Save for the proposed disposal of the Nansha Property to a third party
independent of the Company as contemplated under the Sale and Purchase Agreement (such
disposal is on a best effort basis as set out in the Joint Announcement and therefore may or
may not proceed), as at the Latest Practicable Date, HNA Aviation Investment has no intention
to redeploy the fixed assets of the Company other than those in the ordinary and usual course
of business. Further details and status of the Nansha Property are contained in the “LETTER
FROM THE BOARD” contained in this Composite Offer Document.

Employment

HNA Aviation Investment has no intention to terminate any employment of the employees
of the Group or to make significant changes to any employment, save for the proposed change
of Board composition as detailed in the section headed ‘“Proposed Change to the Board
Composition” below.

- 10 -
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LETTER FROM CCBI

PROPOSED CHANGE TO THE BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board is currently made up of six Directors, comprising three executive Directors,
namely Mr. Kei York Pang Victor, Mr. Li Man Chun and Mr. Kei Yeuk Lun Calan, and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ting Tit Cheung, Mr. Chan Chi Kuen and
Mr. Lo Chun Pong. Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement and in compliance with Rule
7 of the Takeovers Code, all the current executive Directors have tendered their resignations to
the Board with effect from 17 February 2017, the earliest date permitted under the Takeovers
Code.

The Offeror intends to nominate three executive Directors, namely Mr. Nang Qi, Mr. Xue
Qiang and Mr. Chen Peiliang to the Board after despatch of this Composite Offer Document.
Any changes to the Board will be made in compliance with the Takeovers Code and the Listing
Rules. Further announcement(s) will be made upon any appointment of new Directors of the
Company.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the New Directors holds any Shares.

The biographical details of Mr. Nang Qi, Mr. Xue Qiang and Mr. Chen Peiliang (together,
the “New Directors”) are set out below:

Mr. Nang Qi (EHH) (“Mr. Nang”), aged 33, is the director, president and chief executive
officer of HNA Catering Holdings Co., Ltd (il & ¥ A BR /A A)), the executive director of
Micro- Bonus Points Internet Technology Company Limited* (A& 7 B W Bl 47 A R = AL A 7).
Mr. Nang is also the director of Gategroup Holding AG, a company listed an SWX Swiss
Exchange (stock code: GATE), and the director of Virgin Australia Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (stock code: VAH) Mr. Nang obtained a
bachelor’s degree in Electrical Engineering and Automation Engineering in 2006 from the Civil
Aviation University of China (Bl RMiK%E) in the PRC. Mr. Nang has held various other
positions previously within the HNA Group’s companies including deputy general manager of
the finance department and deputy general manager of the procurement management
department at HNA Group Co., Ltd. (i % F A7 PR/ Fl), the executive deputy director of the
aircraft introduction centre (5|4 H.[>) and the chief innovation officer at HNA Aviation
Group Co., Ltd. (M2 £ B A R/AF]), and the chief innovation officer at HNA Tourism
Group Co., Ltd. (¥ Wik ZE4E 1B A FRA ).

Mr. Xue Qiang (BE9R) (“Mr. Xue”), aged 38, is the director and chief financial officer of
HNA Catering Holdings Co., Ltd (AL E M ERA R A, director of E-Food Co., Ltd.* (5
B AR F]), director of Wuhan E-Food Railway Catering Services Co., Ltd* (i 5 &
ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁé}ﬁj), director of Tianjin Easylife Credit Co., Ltd (iﬁ%ﬁid\%ﬁg%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
/v ), director of Hainan E-Food Science and Technology Industry Co., Ltd (i F 2 B & fFt
e E A R/ T]), and director of Beijing Tongzhou CDB Village Bank Co., Ltd. (b5 4 JH
BAAT SEERAT A A FR/AF]). Mr. Xue obtained a bachelor’s degree in Certified Public
Accountants Specialized* (3t & #HAfiZ1k) in 2002 from the Jiangxi University of Finance
and Economics (VLPGHFZEKEL) in the PRC. Mr. Xue has held various other positions
previously within the HNA Group’s companies including assistant to the president of HNA
Yisheng Holdings Limited (#fii% A=A R T, chief financial officer of HNA-Caissa
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LETTER FROM CCBI

Travel Group Co., Ltd (Vi SR 7 4 B {5 A PR 22 7)), a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 000796), and vice president and chief financial officer of E-Food
Co., Ltd.* (5 BHERARAF).

Mr. Chen Peiliang (Bl ) (“Mr. Chen”), aged 35, is the chief investment officer of
HNA Catering Holdings Co., Ltd (AT & PR ARA ). Mr. Chen obtained a master’s
degree in business administration in 2007 from the De La Salle University in the Philippines.
Mr. Chen was previously an assistant to the president of West Air Co., Ltd. (FG#RALZ A PR E

LA HD.
COMPULSORY ACQUISITION

The Offeror does not intend to exercise any right which may be available to it to
compulsorily acquire any outstanding Offer Shares not acquired under the Offer after the close
of the Offer.

Further, as the Offeror holds approximately 61.44% of the entire issued share capital of
the Company upon Completion and as at the Latest Practicable Date, it expects to hold more
than 50% of the total number of issued Shares after the close of the Offer. The Offeror will
therefore not incur an obligation to make a general offer pursuant to the Takeovers Code if it
makes further purchase(s) of Shares after the close of the Offer.

MAINTAINING THE LISTING STATUS OF THE COMPANY

The Stock Exchange had stated that if, upon the close of the Offer, less than the minimum
prescribed percentage applicable to the Company, being 25% of the issued Shares, are held by
the public, or if the Stock Exchange believes that (i) a false market exists or may exist in the
trading of the Shares; or (ii) that there are insufficient Shares in public hands to maintain an
orderly market, it would consider exercising its discretion to suspend dealings in the Shares
until the prescribed level of public float is restored.

The Offeror intends to maintain the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange after the
close of the Offer.

In the event that the public float of the Company falls below 25% upon close of the Offer,
the directors of the Offeror and the new Directors to be nominated by the Offeror and
appointed by the Board have jointly and severally undertake to the Stock Exchange that they
would take appropriate steps to restore the minimum public float as required under the Listing
Rules as soon as possible upon the close of the Offer to ensure that sufficient public float
exists for the Shares.

Therefore, upon the close of the Offer, there may be insufficient public float of the Shares
and the trading in the Shares may be suspended until sufficient public float exists for the
Shares.

- 12 —
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LETTER FROM CCBI

ACCEPTANCE AND SETTLEMENT

Your attention is drawn to the further details regarding the procedures for acceptance and
settlement and the acceptance period as set out in Appendix I to this Composite Offer
Document and the accompanying Form of Acceptance.

GENERAL

To ensure equality of treatment of all Independent Shareholders, those registered
Independent Shareholders who hold the Shares as nominee for more than one beneficial owner
should, as far as practicable, treat the holding of each beneficial owner separately. In order for
the beneficial owners of the Shares, whose investments are registered in nominee names, to
accept the Offer, it is essential that they provide instructions to their nominees of their
intentions with regard to the Offer.

All documents and remittances will be sent to the Independent Shareholders by ordinary
post at their own risk. These documents and remittances will be sent to them at their respective
addresses as they appear in the register of members, or, in case of joint holders to the
Independent Shareholder whose name appears first in the said register of members. None of the
Offeror, the Company and their respective ultimate beneficial owners and parties acting in
concert with any of them, CCBI, HKICM, the Registrar, the company secretary of the
Company or any of their respective directors, officers, advisers, associates, agents or any
persons involved in the Offer will be responsible for any loss or delay in transmission of such
documents and remittances or any other liabilities that may arise as a result thereof.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Your attention is drawn to the additional information regarding the Offer set out in the
appendices to this Composite Offer Document and the accompanying Form of Acceptance,
which form part of this Composite Offer Document. In addition, your attention is also drawn to
the “Letter from the Board”, the “Letter from the Independent Board Committee” and the
“Letter from the Independent Financial Adviser” and other information about the Group, which
are set out in this Composite Offer Document.

Yours faithfully,
For and on behalf of
CCB International Capital Limited
Gilman Siu
Managing Director, Head of Mergers & Acquisition
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LETTER FROM THE BOARD

KTL International Holdings Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 442)

Executive Directors: Registered Office: Sch 11 1
Mr. Kei York Pang Victor (Co-Chairman) Clifton House
Mr. Li Man Chun (Co-Chairman) 75 Fort Street
Mr. Kei Yeuk Lun Calan Grand Cayman
KY1-1108
Independent Non-executive Directors: Cayman Islands
Mr. Ting Tit Cheung
Mr. Chan Chi Kuen Place of business and headquarter
Mr. Lo Chun Pong in Hong Kong:
Unit 1207

Fu Hang Industrial Building
1 Hok Yuen Street East
Hunghom, Kowloon

Hong Kong

27 January 2017

To the Independent Shareholders

Dear Sir or Madam,

COMPOSITE OFFER AND RESPONSE DOCUMENT RELATING TO
THE MANDATORY UNCONDITIONAL CASH OFFER BY
CCB INTERNATIONAL CAPITAL LIMITED
FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE OFFEROR
TO ACQUIRE ALL THE ISSUED SHARES IN THE SHARE CAPITAL OF
KTL INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED
(OTHER THAN THOSE SHARES ALREADY OWNED
OR AGREED TO BE ACQUIRED BY
HNA AVIATION INVESTMENT HOLDING COMPANY LTD)

INTRODUCTION

Reference is made to the Joint Announcement by which the Offeror and the Company
jointly announced that on 13 December 2016, the Offeror, the Vendor and the Guarantors had
entered into the Sale and Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which the Vendor had agreed to sell
and the Offeror had agreed to purchase the Sale Shares, representing approximately 61.44% of
the entire issued share capital of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date. The scm20
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LETTER FROM THE BOARD

Consideration for the Sale Shares pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement amounted to
HK$594,739,297, equivalently to approximately HK$6.05 per Sale Share. Completion took
place on 29 December 2016.

Immediately following Completion and as at the Latest Practicable Date, the Offeror and
parties acting in concert with it were interested in 98,304,016 Shares, representing
approximately 61.44% of the existing issued share capital of the Company. Pursuant to Rule
26.1 of the Takeovers Code, the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it are required to
make an mandatory unconditional cash offer for all the issued Shares (other than those Shares
already owned or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror).

Pursuant to Rules 2.1 and 2.8 of the Takeovers Code, on 14 December 2016, the Board
has established the Independent Board Committee comprising all the independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Ting Tit Cheung, Mr. Chan Chi Kuen and Mr. Lo Chun Pong,
to make a recommendation to the Independent Shareholders in respect of the Offer, in

particular as to whether the terms of the Offer are fair and reasonable and as to the acceptance
of the Offer.

Pursuant to Rule 2.1 of the Takeovers Code, on 29 December 2016, Veda Capital Limited
has been appointed as the Independent Financial Adviser with the approval of the Independent
Board Committee to advise the Independent Board Committee in respect of the Offer, and in

particular as to whether the terms of the Offer are fair and reasonable and as to the acceptance
of the Offer.

The purpose of this Composite Offer Document is to provide you with, among other
things, information relating to the Group, the Offeror and the Offer as well as setting out the
letter from the Independent Board Committee containing its recommendation to the
Independent Shareholders in respect of the terms of the Offer and as to acceptance of the
Offer, and the letter from the Independent Financial Adviser containing its advice and
recommendation to the Independent Board Committee in respect of the terms of the Offer and
as to acceptance of the Offer.

THE OFFER
As at the Latest Practicable Date, there were 160,000,000 Shares in issue.

There were no outstanding warrants, options, derivatives or securities convertible into
Shares and the Company had not entered into any agreement for the issue of such securities,
options, derivatives or warrants of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date.

Principal terms of the Offer

As mentioned in the “LETTER FROM CCBI” on pages 5 to 13 of this Composite Offer
Document, CCBI is making the Offer for and on behalf of the Offeror to all the Independent
Shareholders for all the issued Shares (other than those Shares already owned or agreed to be
acquired by the Offeror) in accordance with the Takeovers Code on the following basis:

For each Offer Share . ... ... .. HK$6.05 in cash
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LETTER FROM THE BOARD

The Offer Price of HK$6.05 per Offer Share under the Offer is equal to the purchase price
per Sale Share payable by the Offeror under the Sale and Purchase Agreement.

Further details of the Offer, including terms and procedures for acceptance of the Offer,
are contained in the “LETTER FROM CCBI” as set out on pages 5 to 13 of, and Appendix I
to, this Composite Offer Document and the accompanying Form of Acceptance.

INFORMATION ON THE GROUP

The Company is a company incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability and its
Shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Group is principally engaged
in the manufacture and sale of jewellery and related products.

The table below sets out the shareholding structure of the Company (based on information
received by the Company and notified pursuant to Part XV of the SFO as at the Latest
Practicable Date) (i) immediately before Completion; and (ii) immediately following
Completion and as at the Latest Practicable Date:

Immediately before Immediately following
Completion Completion and as at the
Latest Practicable Date
Number of Approximate Number of Approximate
Shares % Shares %
Shareholders
The Vendor 98,304,016 61.44 — —
The Offeror — — 98,304,016 61.44
Sub-total of the Offeror and 98,304,016 61.44 98,304,016 61.44
the parties acting in concert (Note) (Note)
with it
Other public Shareholders 61,695,984 38.56 61,695,984 38.56
Total 160,000,000 100 160,000,000 100

Note: The Vendor is presumed to be acting in concert with the Purchaser under class (9) of the definition of
“acting in concert” in the Takeovers Code. Kei York Pang Victor and Li Man Chun are therefore
deemed to be interested in the Shares under the SFO held by the Purchaser.

The following table sets out a summary of the audited consolidated results of the Group
for each of the financial years ended 31 March 2015 and 2016 and the unaudited condensed
consolidated results of the Group for the six months ended 30 September 2016, as extracted
from the consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards in the Company’s annual report for each of the years ended 31 March
2015 and 2016 and the Company’s interim report for the six months ended 30 September 2016,
respectively.
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LETTER FROM THE BOARD

For the
six months
ended For the year ended
30 September 31 March
2016 2016 2015
(unaudited) (audited) (audited)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Revenue 245,965 683,687 1,036,824
(Loss)/profit before tax (4,859) (11,690) 26,597
(Loss)/profit attributable to the owners
of the Company (6,373) (13,502) 20,342
As at As at As at
30 September 31 March 31 March
2016 2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Consolidated net asset value attributable
to the owners of the Company 331,671 352,613 382,710

Further details of the information of the Group are set out in Appendices II and III to this
Composite Offer Document.

INFORMATION ON THE OFFEROR

Your attention is drawn to the section headed “INFORMATION ON THE OFFEROR” in
the “LETTER FROM CCBI” as set out on pages 9 to 10 of this Composite Offer Document.

THE OFFEROR’S INTENTIONS IN RELATION TO THE GROUP

Your attention is drawn to the sections headed “INFORMATION OF THE OFFEROR”
and “OFFEROR’S INTENTION ON THE COMPANY” in the “LETTER FROM CCBI” as set
out on page 10 of this Composite Offer Document. The Board is pleased to learn that the
Offeror intends to continue the principal businesses of the Group and that the Offeror has no
intention to terminate the employment of any employees of the Group or to make significant
changes to any employment (except for the proposed change of Board composition as detailed
in the section headed “PROPOSED CHANGE TO THE BOARD COMPOSITION” in the
“LETTER FROM CCBI”), or redeploy the fixed assets of the Group other than (a) those in its
ordinary and usual course of business; and (b) the Nansha Property.

- 17 -

Sch II'1



LETTER FROM THE BOARD

Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement, each of the Vendor and the Guarantors
unconditionally and jointly and severally undertakes to the Purchaser, among other things, that
it/he will use its/his best effort to assist the Group in disposing of the Nansha Property to a
third party independent of the Company, the Vendor and the Guarantors on or before the first
anniversary of the Completion, and procure the net proceeds from such disposal be used as
may be determined by the Board. The initial development plan for the Nansha Property was to
establish an expanded exhibition centre and staff training centre to faciliate the marketing and
customer services. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Nansha Property’s fitting-out and
decoration have not been completed and hence has not been available for use in operation. In
view of the current market conditions and taking into account the scale and capacity of the
Group’s existing operational production facilities, the Board considered it appropriate and
prudent to suspend the development of the Nansha Property and applied the financial resources
originally allocated for fitting out and decoration of the Nansha Property towards working
capital and general corporation purposes of the Group to better support its financial resources
and liquidity management. The disposal of the Nansha Property may or may not proceed. It is
expected that there will not be material impact to the Group in the event that the proposed
disposal does not proceed. If the proposed disposal of the Nansha Property proceeds, the Group
will comply with the relevant requirements under the Listing Rules.

MAINTAINING THE LISTING STATUS OF THE COMPANY

It is stated in the “LETTER FROM CCBI” on pages 5 to 13 of this Composite Offer
Document that the Offeror intends to maintain the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange
following the close of the Offer.

In the event that the public float of the Company falls below 25% following the close of
the Offer, the Board noted that the directors of the Offeror and the new Directors to be
appointed to the Board have jointly and severally undertaken to the Stock Exchange that they
would take appropriate steps to restore the minimum public float as required under the Listing
Rules as soon as possible following the close of the Offer to ensure that sufficient public float
exists for the Shares.

The Stock Exchange had stated that if, at the closing of the Offer, less than the
minimum prescribed percentage applicable to the Company, being 25% of the issued
Shares, are held by the public or if the Stock Exchange believes that:

(a) a false market exists or may exist in the trading of the Shares; or

(b) there are insufficient Shares in public hands to maintain an orderly market, it
would consider exercising its discretion to suspend dealings in the Shares.

Therefore, upon the close of the Offer, there may be insufficient public float of the Shares
and the trading in the Shares may be suspended until sufficient public float exists for the
Shares.

Shareholders and potential investors are advised to exercise caution when dealing in
Shares.
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LETTER FROM THE BOARD

RECOMMENDATION

Your attention is drawn to (i) the “LETTER FROM THE INDEPENDENT BOARD seui
COMMITTEE” on pages 20 to 21 of this Composite Offer Document, which sets out its
recommendation to the Independent Shareholders as to whether the terms of the Offer are, or
are not, fair and reasonable so far as the Independent Shareholders are concerned, and as to
acceptance thereof; and (ii) the “LETTER FROM THE INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL
ADVISER” on pages 22 to 41 of this Composite Offer Document, which sets out its advice
and recommendation to the Independent Board Committee as to whether the terms of the Offer
are, or are not, fair and reasonable so far as the Independent Shareholders are concerned, and
as to acceptance thereof, and the principal factors considered by it in arriving at its advice and
recommendation.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

You are advised to read this Composite Offer Document together with the accompanying
Form of Acceptance in respect of the acceptance and settlement procedures of the Offer. Your
attention is also drawn to the additional information contained in the appendices to this
Composite Offer Document.

In considering what action to take in connection with the Offer, you should also consider
your own tax positions, if any, and in case of any doubt, consult your professional advisers.

Yours faithfully,
By Order of the Board
KTL International Holdings Group Limited
Kei York Pang Victor
Co-Chairman and Executive Director
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LETTER FROM THE INDEPENDENT BOARD COMMITTEE

KTL International Holdings Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 442)

27 January 2017
To the Independent Shareholders

Dear Sir or Madam,

COMPOSITE OFFER AND RESPONSE DOCUMENT RELATING TO
THE MANDATORY UNCONDITIONAL CASH OFFER BY
CCB INTERNATIONAL CAPITAL LIMITED
FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE OFFEROR
TO ACQUIRE ALL THE ISSUED SHARES IN THE SHARE CAPITAL OF
KTL INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED
(OTHER THAN THOSE SHARES ALREADY OWNED
OR AGREED TO BE ACQUIRED BY
HNA AVIATION INVESTMENT HOLDING COMPANY LTD)

INTRODUCTION

We refer to the composite offer and response document dated 27 January 2017 issued
jointly by the Offeror and the Company (“Composite Offer Document”) of which this letter
forms part. Capitalised terms used in this letter have the same meanings as defined in the
Composite Offer Document unless the context requires otherwise.

We have been appointed by the Board to form the Independent Board Committee to
consider the terms of the Offer and to make a recommendation to you as to whether, in our
opinion, the terms of the Offer are, or are not, fair and reasonable so far as the Independent
Shareholders are concerned, and as to acceptance thereof.

Veda Capital Limited has been appointed as the independent financial adviser to advise us
in respect of the terms of the Offer and as to acceptance thereof. Details of its advice and the
principal factors considered by it in arriving at its advice and recommendation are set out in
the “LETTER FROM THE INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL ADVISER” on pages 22 to 41 of
the Composite Offer Document.

We also wish to draw your attention to the “LETTER FROM THE BOARD”, the
“LETTER FROM CCBI” and the additional information set out in the appendices to the
Composite Offer Document.
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LETTER FROM THE INDEPENDENT BOARD COMMITTEE

RECOMMENDATION

Having considered the terms of the Offer and the letter of advice and recommendation schui
from the Independent Financial Adviser, we consider that the terms of the Offer are fair and
reasonable so far as the Independent Shareholders are concerned, and therefore we recommend
the Independent Shareholders to accept the Offer.

However, for those Independent Shareholders who are considering to realise all or part of
their holdings in the Shares, they should monitor the Share price movement until near the end
of the Offer Period. If the market price of the Shares exceeds the Offer Price and the sale
proceeds net of all transaction costs exceed the net proceeds receivable under the Offer, the
Independent Shareholders should consider selling their Shares in the open market instead of
accepting the Offer.

Independent Shareholders are recommended to read the full text of the “LETTER FROM
THE INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL ADVISER” set out in the Composite Offer Document.
Notwithstanding our recommendation, the Independent Shareholders should consider carefully
the terms and conditions of the Offer.

Yours faithfully,
For and on behalf of the
Independent Board Committee

Mr. Ting Tit Cheung Mr. Chan Chi Kuen Mr. Lo Chun Pong
Independent non-executive Independent non-executive Independent non-executive
Director Director Director
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LETTER FROM THE INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL ADVISER

The following is the full text of a letter of advice from the Independent Financial Adviser
to the Independent Board Committee in relation to the Offer, which has been prepared for the
purpose of inclusion in this Composite Offer Document.

VEDA | CAPITAL Room 1106, 11/F.

Wing On Centre

%‘ m& g ZIK 111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong

27 January 2017
To the Independent Board Committee

Dear Sir/Madams,

MANDATORY UNCONDITIONAL CASH OFFER
BY CCB INTERNATIONAL CAPITAL LIMITED
FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE OFFEROR TO ACQUIRE
ALL THE ISSUED SHARES IN THE SHARE CAPITAL OF
KTL INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED
(OTHER THAN THOSE ALREADY OWNED OR AGREED
TO BE ACQUIRED BY THE OFFEROR)

INTRODUCTION

We refer to our appointment as the Independent Financial Adviser to the Independent
Board Committee in relation to the Offer, details of which are set out in the letter from CCBI
and the letter from the Board contained in the Composite Offer Document dated 27 January
2017 jointly issued by the Offeror and the Company, of which this letter forms part.
Capitalised terms used in this letter shall have the same meanings as defined in the Composite
Offer Document unless the context requires otherwise.

On 13 December 2016 (after trading hours), the Offeror, the Vendor and the Guarantors
entered into the Sale and Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which the Offeror has conditionally
agreed to purchase, and the Vendor has conditionally agreed to sell, a total of 98,304,016
Shares, representing approximately 61.44% of the entire issued share capital of the Company
as at the Latest Practicable Date. The Completion took place on 29 December 2016 in
accordance with the terms and provisions of the Sale and Purchase Agreement. Pursuant to
Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code, the Offeror is required to make a mandatory unconditional
cash offer for all the issued Shares (other than those already owned or agreed to be acquired by
the Offeror).
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LETTER FROM THE INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL ADVISER

THE INDEPENDENT BOARD COMMITTEE

The Independent Board Committee comprising all the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ting Tit Cheung, Mr. Chan Chi Kuen and Mr. Lo Chun Pong, has been
set up to advise the Independent Shareholders as to whether the terms of the Offer are fair and
reasonable and as to the acceptance of the Offer.

We, Veda Capital Limited, have been appointed by the Company as the Independent
Financial Adviser to advise the Independent Board Committee in this respect pursuant to Rule
2.1 of the Takeovers Code. The appointment of Veda Capital as the Independent Financial
Adviser has been approved by the Independent Board Committee. Our role as the Independent
Financial Adviser is to give our recommendation to the Independent Board Committee as to (i)
whether the Offer is fair and reasonable so far as the Independent Shareholders are concerned;
and (ii) whether the Offer should be accepted.

We are independent from and not connected with the Company, the Offeror, any of their
respective substantial shareholders, or any party acting, or presumed to be acting, in concert
with any of them. Accordingly, we are considered eligible to give independent advice on the
Offer. Apart from the normal advisory fee payable to us in connection with our appointment as
the Independent Financial Adviser to advise the Independent Board Committee, no arrangement
exists whereby we shall receive any other fees or benefits from the Offeror and the Company
or any of its substantial shareholders or any person acting, or deemed to be acting, in concert
with any of them.

BASIS OF OUR ADVICE

In formulating our advice and recommendation to the Independent Board Committee, we
have relied on the statements, information, opinions and representations contained in or
referred to the Composite Offer Document and the information and representations as provided
to us by the directors of the Company (“Directors”) and the management of the Company. We
have assumed that all information and representations that have been provided by the Directors
and the management of the Company are true, complete and accurate in all material respects at
the time when they were made and up to the date throughout the Offer Period and should there
be any material changes thereto, Shareholders would be notified as soon as possible in
accordance with Rule 9.1 of the Takeovers Code. We have also assumed that all statements of
belief, opinion, expectation and intention made by the Directors and the Offeror in the
Composite Offer Document were reasonably made after due enquiries and careful
considerations.

We have no reason to suspect that any material facts or information have been withheld or
to doubt the truth, accuracy and completeness of the information and facts contained in the
Composite Offer Document, or the reasonableness of the opinions expressed by the Company,
its advisers and/or the Directors and the management of the Company, which have been
provided to us.

We consider that we have taken sufficient and necessary steps on which to form a
reasonable basis and an informed view for our recommendation. As stated in Appendix III to
the Composite Offer Document, the Directors jointly and severally accept full responsibility for
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LETTER FROM THE INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL ADVISER

the accuracy of the information contained in this Composite Offer Document (other than that
relating to the Offeror, the directors of the Offeror, the proposed Directors nominated by the
Offeror to the Board, their associates and parties acting in concert with any of them) and
confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge, opinions
expressed in this Composite Offer Document (other than those expressed by the Offeror the
directors of the Offeror, the proposed Directors nominated by the Offeror to the Board, their
associates and parties acting in concert with any of them) have been arrived at after due and
careful consideration and there are no other facts not contained in this Composite Offer
Document, the omission of which would make any statements in this Composite Offer
Document misleading.

As stated in Appendix IV to the Composite Offer Document, the directors of the Offeror
jointly and severally accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in
this Composite Offer Document (other than the information relating to the Group, the Vendor
and the Guarantor) and confirms, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of her
knowledge, opinions expressed in this Composite Offer Document (other than those expressed
by the Group, the Vendor and the Guarantor) have been arrived at after due and careful
consideration and there are no other facts not contained in this Composite Offer Document, the
omission of which would make any statements in this Composite Offer Document misleading.

We have not considered the tax consequences on the Independent Shareholders in respect
of their acceptance or non-acceptance of the Offer since they vary depending on respective
individual circumstances. The Independent Shareholders who are overseas residents or subject
to overseas taxes or Hong Kong taxation on securities dealings should consider their own tax
positions and, if in any doubt, should consult their own professional advisers.

PRINCIPAL FACTORS AND REASONS CONSIDERED

In arriving at our opinion and recommendation to the Independent Board Committee in
relation to the Offer, we have considered the principal factors and reasons as set out below:

1. Background of the Offer

The Offeror and the Company jointly announced on 21 December 2016 that on 13
December 2016, after trading hours, the Offeror (as purchaser), the Vendor (as vendor) and the
Guarantors entered into the Sale and Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which the Offeror
conditionally agreed to purchase and the Vendor conditionally agreed to sell a total of
98,304,016 Shares, representing approximately 61.44% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the Latest Practicable Date, for a total consideration of HK$594,739,297
(equivalent to approximately HK$6.05 per Sale Share).

The Completion took place on 29 December 2016 in accordance with the terms and
provisions of the Sale and Purchase Agreement.

Immediately following Completion and as at the Latest Practicable Date, the Offeror and
parties acting in concert with them are interested in an aggregate of 98,304,016 Shares,
representing approximately 61.44% of the total issued share capital of the Company. The
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Offeror is therefore required under Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code to make a mandatory
unconditional cash offer for all the issued Shares not already owned and/or agreed to be
acquired by it and/or parties acting in concert with it.

2.

Background information of the Group

(a) Principal business

The Company is a company incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability

and its Shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Group is
principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of jewellery and related products.

(b) Historical financial information

Set out below is the financial information of the Group for (i) the six months ended

30 September 2016; (ii) the year ended 31 March 2016; and (iii) the year ended 31 March
2015.

(i) For the six months ended 30 September 2016

As set out in the interim report of the Company for the six months ended 30
September 2016 (the “IR 2016”"), the Group’s revenue was approximately HK$246.0
million for the six months ended 30 September 2016, representing a decrease of
approximately 33.3% as compared with the same for the six months ended 30
September 2015. As noted in the IR 2016, the decrease in the Group’s revenue was
primarily due to a decrease in sales in Russia of approximately HK$80.1 million as a
result of Russian customers being tuned into the Ruble (RUB)’s depreciation and
deteriorated outlook.

The loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the six months ended 30
September 2016 amounted to approximately HK$6.4 million, representing a decrease
in loss of approximately 57.9% as compared to the loss attributable to the owners of
the Company for the six months ended 30 September 2015 of approximately
HK$15.2 million. The loss was mainly attributable to a decline in the Group’s
revenue and gross profit for the six months ended 30 September 2016. As noted from
the IR 2016, the decrease in loss is mainly due to (i) the decrease in average
borrowing balance during the six months period ended 30 September 2016 with a
result of decrease in finance cost by approximately HK$2.6 million; (ii) the one-off
gain of approximately HK$6.06 million from realisation of exchange fluctuation
reserve upon deregistration of a subsidiary in the PRC; and (iii) the combined effects
of the Group’s continuing implementation of rigorous cost control on one hand by
further streamlining operations and rationalizing overheads, and on the other hand of,
increase in expenditures on reward of expanding new customer base, exploring new
markets and recruiting designers for creating new product collections.

The decline in revenue was primarily attributable to a significant slowdown of
sales in Russian and American markets, the decrease of which were approximately
HK$80.1 million and approximately HK$31.5 million, respectively, for the six
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months ended 30 September 2016 as compared to the corresponding period in 2015,
primarily attributable to global economic uncertainty and weaker-than-expected
demand in Russian and American markets.

As at 30 September 2016, the Group’s net current assets, total assets and equity
attributable to the owners of the Company amounted to approximately HK$129.0
million, approximately HK$617.8 million and approximately HK$331.7 million,
respectively.

(ii) For the year ended 31 March 2016

As set out in the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2016 (the “AR 2016”), the Group’s revenue was approximately HK$683.7 million
for the year ended 31 March 2016, representing a decrease of approximately 34.1%
as compared with the same for the year ended 31 March 2015. As noted in the AR
2016, the decrease in the Group’s revenue was primarily due to (i) a decrease in sales
in Russia of approximately HK$304.7 million as a result of the unfavourable
economic environment in Russia and the decrease in average wholesale price as
higher portion of products with simple design were sold to Russia; (ii) decrease in
sales in Americas of approximately HK$45.3 million mainly attributable to the
decrease in sales orders from our major customers in the United States as a result of
the weaker-than-expected demand; and (iii) a continuous decrease in sales of
approximately HK$6.0 million in the Middle East mainly because the Group’s major
customer in the region changed its business focus to streamline retail networks and
reduced excess inventories from past years, which was partially offset by an increase
in sales in the PRC of approximately HK$14.8 million as a result of the Group’s
strategic cooperation and established closer business relationship with certain
customers in the PRC.

The loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2016 amounted to approximately HK$13.5 million, as compared to the profit
attributable to the owners of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2015 of
approximately HK$20.3 million. The change from profit to loss attributable to
owners of the Company was mainly due to the overall decrease in sales of its
products for the year ended 31 March 2016 by approximately HK$353.1 million as a
result of the unfavourable economic development in Russia and the weaker-than-
expected demand of jewellery in the Americas, and an exchange loss of
approximately HK$4.8 million upon translation of the pledged Renminbi deposits
held by the Group during the year.

(iii) For the year ended 31 March 2015

As set out in the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2015 (the “AR 2015”), the Group’s revenue was approximately HK$1,036.8 million
for the year ended 31 March 2015, representing a decrease of approximately 23.0%
as compared with the same for the year ended 31 March 2014. As noted in the AR
2015, the decrease in the Group’s revenue was primarily due to (i) a decrease in sales
in Russia of approximately HK$374.7 million as a result of the unexpected

- 26 —



LETTER FROM THE INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL ADVISER

cancellation of certain sales orders previously placed by some of its Russian
customers as a result of the unfavourable economic environment in Russia and the
decrease in average wholesale price as higher portion of products with simple design
were sold to Russia; and (ii) a continuous decrease in sales of approximately
HK$13.4 million in Middle East mainly because the Group’s major customer in the
region changed its business focus to streamline retail networks and reduce excess
inventories since 2013, which was partially offset by (i) an increase in sales in
Americas of approximately HK$66.3 million mainly attributable to the increased
sales orders from the Group’s major customers in the United States as a result of our
strategies to diversify the Group’s markets to the United States; and (ii) an increase
in sales in the PRC of approximately HK$24.6 million as a result of the Group’s
strategic cooperation and established closer business relationship with certain
customers in the PRC.

The profit attributable to the owners of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2015 amounted to approximately HK$20.3 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 46.0% as compared to the profit attributable to the owners of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2014 of approximately HK$37.6 million.
Such decrease was mainly attributable to the recognition of a one-off non-recurring
listing expenses of approximately HK$20.8 million and provision for trade
receivables by approximately HK$8.6 million after having considered the difficulties
of a Russian customer in settling its outstanding trade receivables in full by March
2016. The decrease in profit attributable to owners of the parent was also due to the
overall decrease in sales of its products for the year ended 31 March 2015 by
approximately HK$309.0 million due to the unexpected cancellation of certain sales
orders previously placed by some of its Russian customers as a result of the
unfavourable economic development in Russia.

3. Future prospects and outlook of the Group

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of jewellery and related
products.

Completion took place on 29 December 2016 and the Offer is an unconditional mandatory
cash offer. We noted from the “Letter from CCBI” contained in the Composite Offer
Document that the Offeror intends to continue the existing businesses of the Group following
Completion. Following the close of Offer, the Offeror will also conduct a review on the
business operations and financial position of the Group for the purpose of formulating business
plans and strategies for the future business development of the Group. Subject to the results of
the review, the Offeror may explore other business opportunities for the Company such as
acquisitions or investments in assets and/or business divestment and fund raising, with a view
to enhance its growth and future development.

As noted from the AR 2016 and IR 2016, the Company believes that the operating
environment of the Group has been unfavourable and the Group is facing an unprecedented
challenge. In 2016, uncertainty abounds for global economy, consumers are becoming more
prudent with their finances, saving soberly and spending discreetly. Low consumer confidence
has kept the fine jewellery industry under pressure.
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As further noted from the AR 2016, according to the Group’s revenue by geographical
segment, Americas and Russia are two of the key markets of the Group, which accounted for
an approximately 44.60% and 23.20% of the total revenue of the Group respectively for the
year ended 31 March 2016. During the financial year of 2015/2016, the Group’s revenue
generated from the Americas and Russia decreased by 12.93% and 65.76% respectively.

Consumption habits among Americas have also been changing when it comes to luxury,
with fine jewelleries losing their share of spending. In this connection, revenue arising from
sales to the Americas market lowered to approximately HK$134.6 million for the six months
ended 30 September 2016, representing a drop of 19.0% as compared with the corresponding
period in the previous year. The decrease in sales was mainly attributable to the decrease in
sales orders from the Group’s major customers in the US as a result of the weaker-than-
expected market condition under a significant turnaround in consumer interest in fine jewellery.

The Group experienced a slightly slowdown in sales in the Russian market, due to its
continuing unfavourable economic environment in Russia. The depreciation of RUB against the
United States Dollars (USD) compared to decade low level reduced the price competitiveness
of the Group’s jewellery products to consumers in Russia. According to the data obtained from
Bloomberg, the exchange rate of RUB against USD has depreciated from 33.20 RUB/USD on
3 January 2014 to 60.40 RUB/USD on 28 December 2016 which represents a depreciation of
approximately 44.7%.

Coupled with the political events in relation to Ukraine and the continued impact of
western sanctions, Russian households were far from optimistic towards the economic
situation, favouring primarily major purchases and savings. This inevitably resulted in a chain
reaction, where the demand for fine jewellery was significantly suppressed. The gross domestic
products (“GDP”) of Russia has dropped from USD 2.053 trillion in 2014 to USD 1.331
trillion in 2015, according to the data from the World Bank. Furthermore, according to “Gold
Demand Trends — Full Year 2015” published by World Gold Council, the demand for
jewellery in Russia has plummeted to its lowest level since 2008. The demand in the Russian
jewellery market has collapsed since the middle of 2014, with six consecutive quarters of
double-digit losses. The Russian jewellery market demand collapsed by 39% in 2015 and it
was mainly due to the military intervention in Ukraine and the related international sanctions,
the economic crisis in Russia, the currency depreciation and the falling of oil revenues.
Revenue generated from sales to the Russian market fell by 80.5% to HK$19.4 million for the
six months ended 30 September 2016 as compared with the same period in 2015.

Furthermore, the Group has focused on penetrating further the mass to middle-mass
segment of the fine jewellery market. Although the Mainland China market is currently the
second largest consumer market after the United States, and the fastest growing major
consumer market in the world, the sales in the Mainland China slightly dropped due to the
declining demand in fine jewellery as anti-corruption drive in the nation continues and the
tough macro-economic environment remains. According to the data obtained from the World
Bank, there is a sightly downward trend on the annual growth rate of the GDP of China from
14.2% in 2007 to 6.9% in 2015. Revenue generated from the PRC market stood at
approximately HK$50.3 million for the six months ended 30 September 2016, down 13.8 %
from the same prior year period.
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Having considered the uncertainties associated with the financial performance and
prospects of the Group as discussed above, including but not limited to (i) the depreciation of
RUB against the USD and the unfavourable economic environment in Russia; (ii) the political
events in relations to Ukraine and the continued impact of western sanctions; (iii) Russian
households were far from optimistic towards the economic situation, favouring primarily major
purchases and savings; (iv) the demand for fine jewellery was significantly suppressed in
Russia; (v) the weaker-than-expected demand of jewellery in the Americas; (vi) the declining
demand in fine jewellery as anti-corruption drive in Mainland China and slowing down of the
economic growth in Mainland China; and (vii) the Group’s deteriorating financial results and
challenging business outlook, we agree that the Group will continue to operate in a challenging
environment in coming years and we remain cautious about the outlook and prospects of the
Group.

4. Principal terms of the Offer

CCBI will, on behalf of the Offeror and in compliance with the Takeovers Code, make a
mandatory unconditional general cash offer for all the issued Shares (other than those already
owned or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror) on the following basis:

For each Offer Share ........... i HK$6.05 in cash

The Offer Price of HK$6.05 per Offer Share under the Offer is equal to the purchase price
per Sale Share payable by the Offeror under the Sale and Purchase Agreement. The Offer
Shares to be acquired under the Offer shall be fully paid and free from all Encumbrances and
together with all rights attached thereto, including but not limited to the right to receive all
dividends and distributions which may be paid, made or declared on or after the date on which
the Offer is made, being the date of the posting of the Composite Offer Document.

4.1 The Offer Price
The Offer Price of HK$6.05 per Offer Share represents:

(i) a premium of approximately 0.17% to the closing price of HK$6.040 per Share
as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the Latest Practicable Date;

(i) a premium of approximately 27.1% to the closing price of HK$4.760 per Share
as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the Last Trading Day;

(iii) a premium of approximately 38.3% to the average closing price of
approximately HK$4.374 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the
last five consecutive trading days up to and including the Last Trading Days;

(iv) a premium of approximately 42.0% to the average closing price of
approximately HK$4.261 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the
last 10 consecutive trading days up to and including the Last Trading Day;
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(v) a premium of approximately 45.3% to the average closing price of
approximately HK$4.163 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the
last 30 consecutive trading days up to and including the Last Trading Day;

(vi) a premium of approximately 55.6% to the average closing price of
approximately HK$3.887 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the
last 90 consecutive trading days up to and including the Last Trading Day;

(vii)) a premium of approximately 81.8% to the average closing price of
approximately HK$3.328 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the
last 180 consecutive trading days up to and including the Last Trading Day;

(viii)a premium of approximately 174.5% to the audited consolidated net asset value
attributable to the Shareholders of approximately HK$2.204 per Share as at 31
March 2016; and

(ix) a premium of approximately 191.9% to the unaudited consolidated net asset
value of the Company of approximately HK$2.073 per Share as at 30 September
2016 as set out in the IR 2016.

4.2 Historical performance of the Shares

Set out below is the chart showing the daily closing price of the Shares as quoted on
the Stock Exchange during the period commencing from 14 December 2015, being the
twelve-month period prior to the Last Trading Day, up to and including the Latest
Practicable Date (the “Review Period”):

Chart 1: Share price performance during the Review Period
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Note: Trading of the Shares was suspended on 14 December to 21 December 2016
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We have reviewed the movements in the closing price of the Shares for the Review
Period. We consider that the length of the Review Period to be reasonably long enough to
illustrate the relationship between the historical trend of the closing price of the Shares
and the Offer Price.

The lowest and highest closing price of the Shares during the Review Period were
HK$2.20 per Share recorded on 18 December 2015 and HK$6.04 per Share recorded on
30 December 2016, 6 January 2017, 9 January 2017 and 24 January 2017 respectively, as
quoted on the Stock Exchange. The average daily closing price of the Shares during the
Review Period is HK$3.35 per Share. The Offer Price of HK$6.05 per Share represents (i)
a premium of approximately 175.00% over the lowest closing price of HK$2.20 per
Share; (ii) a premium of approximately 0.17% over the highest closing price of HK$6.04
per Share; and (iii) a premium of approximately 80.60% over the average daily closing
price of HK$3.35 per Share during the Review Period.

Pre-Announcement Period

During the period under review from 14 December 2015 to 13 December 2016
(the “Pre-Announcement Period”’), the Share price demonstrated an upward trend.
The lowest and highest closing price of the Shares during this period were HK$2.20
per Share recorded on 18 December 2015 and HK$4.76 per Share recorded on 13
December 2016 respectively, as quoted on the Stock Exchange.

On 27 October 2016, the Company has made a profit warning announcement
that according to the preliminary assessment by the management of the Group of the
unaudited consolidated management accounts of the Group for the five months ended
31 August 2016, the Company recorded a consolidated loss for the five months
ended 31 August 2016. The loss was mainly attributable to a decline in the Group’s
revenue by approximately 33.0% and gross profit by approximately 37.0% for the
five months ended 31 August 2016 as compared to the corresponding period in 2015.
Following the trading day after the said profit warning announcement, the Share
price has no significant change.

On 18 November 2016, the Company has made an announcement regarding to
the termination of negotiation in respect of a proposed acquisition with a potential
offeror. Following the trading day after the said termination announcement, the Share
price dropped from HK$4.70 per Share on 18 November 2016 to HK$3.99 per Share
on 21 November 2016. We believe that the significant drop in the closing prices of
the Shares immediately after the release of the said termination announcement was
probably due to market reaction towards the termination of negotiation with the
potential offeror.

The Group experienced three price surge periods which are the period from 12
August 2016 to 22 August 2016 (the “Period 1), the period from 2 November 2016
to 17 November 2016 (the “Period 2°) and the period from 2 December 2016 to 13
December 2016 (the “Period 3”). Concerning the price surge of the Shares during
the Period 1, we noted that the Company has made an announcement pursuant to
Rule 3.7 of the Takeovers Code and Rule 13.09 of the Listing Rules and inside
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information provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO on 19 August 2016 (the
“Possible Offer Announcement”). We have enquired with the Directors regarding
the possible reasons for the increase in the Share price during the Period 1 and were
advised that save for the proposed acquisition and possible offer mentioned in the
Possible Offer Announcement, they were not aware of any other matters which might
have impact on the Share price. We believe that the surge in the closing prices of the
Shares during the Period 1 was probably due to market reaction towards the
proposed acquisition and possible offer mentioned in the Possible Offer
Announcement. The Independent Shareholders should note that there is no guarantee
that such price surge may occur during and/or after the Offer Period.

For the price surges during Period 2 and Period 3, we have reviewed the
announcements published by the Company on the Stock Exchange. However, we are
not aware of any public information relating to the Share price movement. We have
also enquired with the management of the Company for the possible reasons for the
price movement during the period and were advised that the Company was not aware
of any other particular matters which might have impact on the Share price. We
believe the price surges in the Period 2 and Period 3 were mainly due to the market
speculation. The Independent Shareholders should note that there is no guarantee that
such price surge may occur during and/or after the Offer Period.

Post-Announcement Period

At the request of the Company, trading in the Shares was suspended from 14
December 2016 to 21 December 2016 (both days inclusive) pending the publication
of the Joint Announcement. Following the resumption of trading of Shares on 22
December 2016 and subsequent to the issue of the Joint Announcement, the closing
price of the Shares increased by approximately 23.11% from HK$4.76 per Share on
the Last Trading Day to HK$5.86 per Share on 22 December 2016 (being the first
trading day after the publication of the Joint Announcement). The share price
recorded the lowest and highest closing price of the Shares as quoted on the Stock
Exchange of HK$5.79 per Share on 28 December 2016 and 29 December 2016 and
HK$6.04 per Share on 30 December 2016, 6 January 2017, 9 January 2017 and 24
January 2017, respectively, during the period from 22 December 2016 to the Latest
Practicable Date (the “Post-Announcement Period”). We have enquired with the
Directors regarding the possible reasons for the increase in the Share price after the
publication of the Joint Announcement and were advised that save for the sale and
purchase of the Sale Shares owned by the Vendor and the possibility of the Offer,
they were not aware of any other matters which might have impact on the Share
price. We believe that the surge in the closing prices of the Shares immediately after
the release of the Joint Announcement was probably due to market reaction towards
the sale and purchase of the Sale Shares owned by the Vendor and the Offer. The
Independent Shareholders should note that there is no guarantee that such price surge
may occur during and/or after the Offer Period.
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Volume (*000)

Historical trading volume of the Shares

The following chart shows the daily trading volume of the Shares during the
Review Period.

Chart 2: Daily trading volume of the Shares during the Review Period
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Note: Trading of the Shares was suspended on 14 December to 21 December 2016
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The following table sets out the historical monthly trading volume of the Shares
and the percentage of the number of Shares traded compared to the total number of
the Shares in issue during the Review Period.

Total
trading
volume for

Average
daily trading
volume for

the month/ Number of the month/
period trading days period
(number of during the (Number of
Shares) month Shares)
2015
14-31 December
(Note 1) 3,102,000 13 238,615
2016
January 2,231,000 20 111,550
February 698,000 18 38,778
March 3,268,000 21 155,619
April 2,771,000 20 138,550
May 7,114,000 21 338,762
June 2,265,000 21 107,857
July 2,964,000 20 148,200
August 5,997,617 22 272,619
September 5,280,000 21 251,429
October 1,295,000 19 68,158
November 10,869,000 22 494,045
December 28,250,940 14 2,017,924
2017
January (up to and
including the
Latest Practicable
Date) 14,841,383 16 927,586
Source: The Stock Exchange
Notes:
1. the Review Period commenced on 14 December 2015.

Percentage
of average
daily trading
volume to
total number
of the Shares
in issue as at
the Latest
Practicable
Date

(%)

(Note 3)

0.15

0.07
0.02
0.10
0.09
0.21
0.07
0.09
0.17
0.16
0.04
0.31
1.26

0.58

Percentage
of average
daily trading
volume to
total number
of the Shares
held by
public
Shareholders
as at the
Latest
Practicable
Date

(%)

(Note 4)

0.39

0.18
0.06
0.25
0.23
0.55
0.18
0.24
0.44
0.41
0.11
0.80
3.27

1.50

2. The trading of the Shares on the Stock Exchange was suspended from 14 December 2016 to
21 December 2016 (both days inclusive) pending the release of the Joint Announcement.
Trading of the Shares on the Stock Exchange was resumed on 22 December 2016.

3. Based on 160,000,000 Shares in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date.

4. Based on 61,695,984 Shares held by public Shareholders as at the Latest Practicable Date.
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The average daily trading volume of the Shares per month during the Review
Period was ranging from approximately 0.02% in February 2016 to approximately
1.26% in December 2016 of the total number of issued Shares as at the Latest
Practicable Date. If only Shares held by public Shareholders, i.e. the free float, are
considered in calculating the percentage of average daily trading volume of the
Shares per month during the Review Period, the percentage was ranging from
approximately 0.06% in February 2016 to approximately 3.27% in December 2016.

We noted that the average daily trading volume of the Shares during the period
from in December 2016 as a percentage of the total number of the Shares in issue
and as a percentage of the total number of the Shares held by public Shareholders
increased significantly. We consider that such relatively high average daily trading
volume of the Shares is most likely due to the market’s reaction to the Offer and the
publication of the Joint Announcement and it is uncertain whether such trading
momentum could be sustained in the absence of the Offer in light that the average
daily trading volume of the Shares was generally thin for most of the time during the
Review Period, i.e. the average daily trading volume during the Review Period was
approximately 339,354 Shares, representing approximately 0.21% of the total number
of Shares in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date.

Accordingly, the Independent Shareholders may find it difficult to dispose of a
large volume of Shares in the open market in a short period of time without exerting
downward pressure on the price of the Shares. Therefore, the Offer provides a viable
alternative exit for the Independent Shareholders, particularly for those who hold a
large volume of Shares, to realise their investments in the Company.

Despite the recent price level of the Shares in the Review Period demonstrated
an increasing trend; having considered (i) the price performance of the Shares during
the Review Period; (ii) the Offer Price represents a premium over all of the closing
prices of the Shares during the Review Period, and (iii) the uncertainty associated
with the financial performance and prospects of the Group as discussed in the section
headed “Future prospects and outlook of the Group” above; (iv) there is no
guarantee that the price surge occurred during December 2016 may occur during and/
or after the Offer Period; (v) the uncertainty of the sustainability of the Share price
momentum during the Post-Announcement Period in the absence of the Offer; and
(vi) the trading volume of the Shares fluctuated during the Post-Announcement
Period and was generally thin during the Pre-Announcement Period and thus it is
uncertain as to whether there would be sufficient liquidity in the Shares for the
Independent Shareholders to dispose of a significant number of the Shares in the
open market without depressing the Share price in the future. Accordingly, the
market trading price of the Shares may not necessarily reflect the proceeds that the
Independent Shareholders can receive by the disposal of their Shares in the open
market, we are of the view that the Offer represents an opportunity for the
Independent Shareholders, particularly for those who hold a large volume of the
Shares, to dispose of part or all of their Shares at the Offer Price if they so wish to.
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The Independent Shareholders who wish to realize their investment in the Group are
reminded that they should carefully and closely monitor the market price of the
Shares during the Offer Period.

4.3 Comparable Analysis

In order to further assess the fairness and reasonableness of the Offer Price, we have
considered the price-to-book ratio (the “P/B Ratios™), the price-to-earnings ratio (the
“P/E Ratios”) and dividend yield, which are commonly adopted trading multiple
analyses. However, the Group was loss-making for the year ended 31 March 2016 and no
dividend were distributed for the years ended 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2016, thus
making the P/E Ratios analysis and dividend yield analysis to value the Company are not
applicable.

Based on the Offer Price of HK$6.05 per Offer Share and the total number of issued
Shares of 160,000,000 as at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company is valued at
approximately HK$968,000,000. The P/B Ratio of the Company implied by the Offer
Price is approximately 2.92 times (the “Implied P/B Ratio”) based on the equity
attributable to equity Shareholders of the Company of approximately HK$331,671,000 as
at 30 September 2016.

We have attempted to identify the comparable companies which are (i) listed on the
Stock Exchange; (ii) principally engaged in same or similar majority business as the
Group i.e. engaged in the manufacture and sale of jewellery and related products; and (iii)
with comparable scale size of the Group (i.e. the net assets values of the comparable
companies are less than 10 times of the Group’s net asset value). In this regard, 10
comparable companies (the “Comparables”) are identified (including 1 outliner), based
on our research on the website of the Stock Exchange and Bloomberg in accordance with
the above criteria which we consider to be exhaustive, fair and representable. Details of
our analysis are listed below:

Market Net Assets
Company name and code = Company business capitalisation Value P/B Ratios
(HKS$) (HKS) (Note 1)
China Fortune Investments  Retail business of 485,780,325 213,889,000 2.27
(Holding) Ltd. (8116) diamonds and gemstone
and related jewellery in
China, retail and trading
business of wine, cigar
and golf products in
Hong Kong
Continental Holdings Ltd. Design, manufacturing, 888,053,735 1,730,097,000 0.51
(513) marketing and trading of

fine jewellery and
diamonds; property
investment; mining
operation; and
investment

— 36 —



LETTER FROM THE INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL ADVISER

Company name and code

Hong Kong Resources
Holdings Co. Ltd.
(2882)

King Fook Holdings Ltd.
(280)

Larry Jewelry International
Co. Ltd. (8351)

Man Sang Jewellery
Holdings Ltd. (1466)

O Luxe Holdings Ltd.
(860)

Perfect Group International
Holdings Ltd. (3326)

Tse Sui Luen Jewellery
(International) Ltd.
417)

Company business

Retailing and franchising

operations for selling
gold and jewellery
products in the PRC

including Hong Kong

and Macau under the

trade name 3D-GOLD,

La Milky Way and T
Zhi Zun

ao

Gold ornament, jewellery,
watch, fashion and gift

retailing, bullion trad
and diamond
wholesaling

Designing, sale and

ing

retailing of fine jewelry
products in Hong Kong

& Singapore; sourcin

g,

processing, re-packaging

& retailing of Chines

€

pharmaceutical products,

dry seafood, health
products & foodstuff

in

Hong Kong, China &

Macau

Purchasing, processing,

designing, production

and wholesale
distribution of pearls
jewellery products

Exports and domestic
trading, retail and

and

wholesale of jewellery

products, writing

instruments and watches,
mining, money lending

and securities
investments

Designing, manufacturing
and sales of high-end
fine jewellery (primarily
mounted with diamonds)

Manufacture, sale and

marketing of jewellery

products and the
provision of service
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Market
capitalisation
(HKS$)

313,493,154

584,736,298

407,817,561

1,201,399,573

2,010,452,306

913,500,000

525,840,553

Net Assets
Value
(HKS$)

313,048,000

739,658,000

297,298,000

313,657,000

1,490,847,000

14,675,000

1,030,803,000

P/B Ratios
(Note 1)

1.00

0.79

1.37

3.83

1.35

62.25
(Note 2)

0.51
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Market Net Assets
Company name and code = Company business capitalisation Value P/B Ratios
(HKS$) (HK3) (Note 1)
Zhong Fa Zhan Holdings Design, manufacture and 465,376,140 71,269,000 6.53
Ltd. (475) wholesale of fine jewelry
products in the PRC
Maximum 6.53
Minimum 0.51
Average 2.02
the Company (442) Manufacture and sale of 968,000,000 331,671,000 2.92
jewellery and related
products
Source: The Stock Exchange
Notes:
1. The P/B Ratios of the Comparables are calculated based on the market capitalisation of the

respective Comparables as at the Latest Practicable Date divided by the net assets value of the
respective Comparables as extracted from their respective latest published annual or interim
results.

2. Perfect Group International Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 3326) is considered as outliner due to its
extraordinary outcome of P/B Ratios, thus it is excluded from the calculation.

As illustrated in the table above, the P/B Ratios of the Comparables ranged from
approximately 0.51 times to approximately 6.53 times, with an average of approximately
2.02 times. The Implied P/B Ratio of approximately 2.92 times is significantly higher than
the average of the P/B Ratios of the Comparables and within the P/B Ratios range of the
Comparables.

Having considered that the Implied P/B Ratio is (i) higher than the average of the
Comparables, being approximately 2.02 times; and (ii) lies within the range of the P/B
Ratios of the Comparables, we are of the view that the Offer Price is fair and reasonable.

5. Background and intention of the Offeror
Background of the Offeror

As stated in the paragraph headed “Information of the Offeror” in the “Letter from
CCBI” contained in the Composite Offer Document, the Offeror is a company with
limited liability incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 30 August 2016 and is an
investment holding company established for the purpose of holding the Sale Shares and
any Shares acquired under the Offer. It is deemed to be held as to 86.54% by HNA Group
Co., Ltd. (“HNA Group”). The remaining interest in HNA Aviation Investment is held as
to 4.81% by Shanghai AJ Trust Co., Ltd.* (L E&EF AR ETLAF) and as to 8.65%
by Shanghai Yihang Enterprises Management Partnership Limited, L.P.* ({8 AT(>2E
EIAIKEZEE R A1K)), both of which are third parties independent to HNA Aviation
Investment, or any of its associates. HNA Group is held as to 70% by Hainan Traffic
Administration Holding Co., Ltd.* (¥ 3¢ ¥ A PR/ F]), which is in turn held as to
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50% by Tang Dynasty Development (Yangpu) Company Limited* (%5 %% & ¥ /) A IR
/5y H]). Tang Dynasty Development (Yangpu) Company Limited* (8% %8 & (i) A R
A]) is held as to 65% by Hainan Province Cihang Foundation* (¥ Fd & Z& Wi/~ t 7% 42 ).
HNA Group is a PRC conglomerate encompassing core divisions of tourism, holding,
capital, logistics and EcoTech. According to the Fortune Global 500 ranking released by
the U.S. “Fortune” magazine in 2015, HNA Group ranked No. 464 among all companies
in the world, with an annual revenue of over US$25.6 billion. In July 2016, HNA Group
was listed among Fortune Global 500 once again, ranking No. 353 with annual revenue of
approximately US$29.56 billion. The ranking rose by 111 positions compared with last
year. Immediately prior to the entering into of the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the
Offeror and parties acting in concert with it did not hold any securities of the Company,
and were therefore independent of the Company and its connected persons.

Intention of the Offeror

As stated in the paragraph headed “The Offeror’s intentions in relation to the Group”
in the “Letter from CCBI” contained in the Composite Offer Document, the Offeror will
become the controlling shareholder of the Company and expected to be interested in
approximately 61.44% of the total issued share capital of the Company. Following
Completion, HNA Aviation Investment intends that the Group will continue with its
existing businesses. Following the close of Offer, HNA Aviation Investment will also
conduct a review on the business operations and financial position of the Group for the
purpose of formulating business plans and strategies for the future business development
of the Group. Subject to the results of the review, HNA Aviation Investment may explore
other business opportunities for the Company such as acquisitions or investments in assets
and/or business divestment and fund raising, with a view to enhance its growth and future
development. Save for the proposed disposal of the Nansha Property to a third party
independent of the Company as contemplated under the Sale and Purchase Agreement
(such disposal is on a best effort basis as set out in the Joint Announcement and therefore
may or may not proceed), as at the Latest Practicable Date, HNA Aviation Investment has
no intention to redeploy the fixed assets of the Company other than those in the ordinary
and usual course of business. Further details and status of the Nansha Property are
contained in the letter from the Board contained in the Composite Offer Document.

Proposed Change of Board Composition

The Board is currently made up of six Directors, comprising three executive
Directors, namely Mr. Kei York Pang Victor, Mr. Li Man Chun, and Mr. Kei Yeuk Lun
Calan, and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ting Tit Cheung, Mr.
Chan Chi Kuen and Mr. Lo Chun Pong.

As stated in the paragraph headed “Proposed change of the Board composition” in
the “Letter from CCBI” contained in the Composite Offer Document, it is currently
expected that the Offeror will require all the executive Directors to resign from the Board,
and the Offeror will nominate new Directors to be appointed to the Board at the earliest
time as allowed under the Takeovers Code. Any such resignation and appointment will be
made in compliance with the Takeovers Code and the Listing Rules. As at the Latest
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Practicable Date, none of the new Directors holds any Shares. Further announcement(s)
will be made by the Company in compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules
and the Takeovers Code as and when there are changes in the composition of the Board.

6. Public float and maintaining the listing status of the Company

The Offeror intends to maintain the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange upon
completion of the Offer. In the event that the public float of the Company falls below 25%
upon completion of the Offer, each of the Company and the Offeror will undertake to the Stock
Exchange that they would take appropriate steps to restore the minimum public float as
required under the Listing Rules as soon as possible upon the completion of the Offer to ensure
that sufficient public float exists for the Shares.

The Stock Exchange had stated that if, upon completion of the Offer, less than the
minimum prescribed percentage applicable to the Company, being 25% of the issued Shares,
are held by the public, or if the Stock Exchange believes that (i) a false market exists or may
exist in the trading of the Shares; or (ii) that there are insufficient Shares in public hands to
maintain an orderly market, it would consider exercising its discretion to suspend dealings in
the Shares until the prescribed level of public float is restored.

RECOMMENDATION

Having considered the abovementioned principal factors and reasons set out in this letter,
in particular:

(a) the uncertainties associated with the financial performance and prospects of the
Group as discussed in the section headed “Future prospects and outlook of the
Group” above, including but not limited to (i) the depreciation of RUB against the
USD and the unfavourable economic environment in Russia; (ii) the political events
in relations to Ukraine and the continued impact of western sanctions; (iii) Russian
households were far from optimistic towards the economic situation, favouring
primarily major purchases and savings; (iv) the demand for fine jewellery was
significantly suppressed in Russia; (v) the weaker-than-expected demand of jewellery
in the Americas; and (vi) the Group’s deteriorating financial results and challenging
business outlook;

(b) the Offer Price represents a premium to the trading price level of the Shares during
the whole Review Period. For the price surge occurred during December 2016, there
is no guarantee that such price surge may occur during and/or after the Offer Period.
There is an uncertainty of the sustainability of the Share price momentum during the
Post-Announcement Period in the absence of the Offer;

(c) the trading volume of the Shares was generally thin during the Review Period and
thus it is uncertain as to whether there would be sufficient liquidity in the Shares for
the Independent Shareholders to dispose of a significant number of the Shares in the
open market without depressing the Share price. Accordingly, the market trading
price of the Shares may not necessarily reflect the proceeds that the Independent
Shareholders can receive by the disposal of their Shares in the open market;
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(d) the Implied P/B Ratio is within range and lies above the average of the Comparables;
and

(e) the uncertainties associated with the future intention of the Offeror. As the parent
company of the Offeror, the HNA Group, is a PRC conglomerate encompassing core
divisions of tourism, holding, capital, logistics and EcoTec, there are uncertainties
for Group to develop other types of business in the future.

we are of the opinion that the terms of the Offer are fair and reasonable so far as the
Independent Shareholders are concerned.

Accordingly, we recommend the Independent Board Committee to advise the Independent
Shareholders to accept the Offer.

The Independent Shareholders who wish to realize their investment in the Group are
reminded that they should carefully and closely monitor the market price of the Shares during
the Offer Period and consider selling their Shares in the open market during the Offer Period,
rather than accepting the Offer, if the net proceeds from the sales of such Shares in the open
market would exceed the net amount receivable under the Offer. In any event, the Independent
Shareholders should note that there is no certainty that the current trading volume and/or
current trading price level of the Shares will be sustainable during or after the Offer Period.

Yours Faithfully,
For and on behalf of
Veda Capital Limited
Julisa Fong
Managing Director

Note: Ms. Julisa Fong is a Responsible Officer under the SFO to engage in Type 6 (advising on corporate finance)
regulated activity and has over 20 years of experience in investment banking and corporate finance.
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APPENDIX I FURTHER TERMS OF THE OFFER
AND PROCEDURES OF ACCEPTANCE

1. GENERAL PROCEDURES FOR ACCEPTANCE OF THE OFFER

To accept the Offer, you should complete and sign the accompanying Form of Acceptance tc seh 1-8,150)
in accordance with the instructions printed thereon, which instructions form part of the terms
of the Offer.

(a) If the share certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or any other document(s) of
title (and/or any satisfactory indemnity or indemnities required in respect thereof) in
respect of your Share(s) is/are in your name, and you wish to accept the Offer, you
must send the duly completed Form of Acceptance together with the relevant share
certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or other document(s) of title (and/or any
satisfactory indemnity or indemnities required in respect thereof), for not less than
the numbers of shares in respect of which you intend to accept the Offer, by post or
by hand, to the Registrar, Tricor Investor Services Ltd. at Level 22, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong in an envelope marked “KTL Offer” to
be received by the Registrar in any event no later than 4: 00 p.m. on the Closing
Date or such later time and/or date as the Offeror may determine and the Offeror and
the Company may jointly announce with the consent of the Executive in accordance
with the Takeovers Code.

(b) If the share certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or any other document(s) of
title (and/or any satisfactory indemnity or indemnities required in respect thereof) in
respect of your Shares is/are in the name of a nominee company or a name other than
your own, and you wish to accept the Offer in respect of your Share(s) (whether in
full or in part), you must either:

(i) lodge your share certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or any other
document(s) of title (and/or any satisfactory indemnity or indemnities required
in respect thereof) with the nominee company, or other nominee, with
instructions authorising it to accept the Offer on your behalf and requesting it
to deliver the duly completed Form of Acceptance together with the relevant
share certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or any other document(s) of
title (and/or any satisfactory indemnity or indemnities required in respect
thereof) for the number of shares in respect of which you intend to accept the
Offer to the Registrar in an envelope marked “KTL Offer”; or

(i1) arrange for the Shares to be registered in your name by the Company through
the Registrar, and send the duly completed Form of Acceptance together with
the relevant share certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or any other
document(s) of title (and/or any satisfactory indemnity or indemnities required
in respect thereof) to the Registrar in an envelope marked “KTL Offer”; or

(iii) if your Shares have been lodged with your licensed securities dealer/registered
institution in securities/custodian bank through CCASS, instruct your licensed
securities dealer/registered institution in securities/custodian bank to authorise
HKSCC Nominees Limited to accept the Offer on your behalf on or before the
deadline set by HKSCC Nominees Limited. In order to meet the deadline set by
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HKSCC Nominees Limited, you should check with your licensed securities
dealer/registered institution in securities/custodian bank for the timing on
processing of your instruction, and submit your instruction to your licensed
securities dealer/registered institution in securities/custodian bank as required by
them; or

(iv) if your Shares have been lodged with your investor participant’s account
maintained with CCASS, authorise your instruction via the CCASS Phone
System or CCASS Internet System on or before the deadline set by HKSCC
Nominees Limited.

(c) 1If the share certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or other document(s) of title
(and/or any satisfactory indemnity or indemnities required in respect thereof) in
respect of your Shares is/are not readily available and/or is/are lost and you wish to
accept the Offer in respect of your Shares, the Form of Acceptance should
nevertheless be completed, signed and delivered in an envelope marked “KTL
Offer” to the Registrar together with a letter stating that you have lost one or more
of your share certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or other document(s) of title
(and/or any satisfactory indemnity or indemnities required in respect thereof) or that
it/they is/are not readily available. If you find such document(s) or if it/they
become(s) available, the relevant share certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or
any other document(s) of title (and/or any satisfactory indemnity or indemnities
required in respect thereof) should be forwarded to the Registrar as soon as possible
thereafter. If you have lost your share certificate(s), you should also write to the
Registrar for a letter of indemnity which, when completed in accordance with the
instructions given, should be returned to the Registrar in an envelope marked “KTL
Offer”.

The Offeror shall have the absolute discretion to decide whether any Shares in
respect of which the share certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or any other
document(s) of title is/are not readily available and/or is/are lost will be taken up by
the Offeror.

(d) If you have lodged transfer(s) of any of your Shares for registration in your name
and have not yet received your share certificate(s), and you wish to accept the Offer
in respect of your Shares, you should nevertheless complete the Form of Acceptance
and deliver it to the Registrar in an envelope marked “KTL Offer” together with the
transfer receipt(s) duly signed by yourself. Such action will be deemed to be an
irrevocable authority to CCBI and/or the Offeror or their respective agent(s) to
collect from the Registrar on your behalf the relevant share certificate(s) when issued
and to deliver such certificate(s) to the Registrar as if it was/they were delivered to
the Registrar with the Form of Acceptance.

(e) Acceptance of the Offer will be treated as valid only if the completed Form of wcisi
Acceptance is received by the Registrar no later than 4:00 p.m. on the Closing Date
or such later time and/or date as the Offeror may determine and announce with the
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®

(2)

(h)

@

consent of the Executive in accordance with the Takeovers Code and the Registrar
has recorded that the acceptance and the relevant documents as required under this
paragraph have been so received, and is:

(i) accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or
other document(s) of title (and/or any satisfactory indemnity or indemnities
required in respect thereof) and, if the share certificate(s) is/are not in your
name, such other documents in order to establish your right to become the
registered holder of the relevant Shares; or

(i1) from a registered Shareholder or his/her/its personal representative (but only up
to the amount of the registered holding and only to the extent that the
acceptance relates to Shares which are not taken into account under another sub-
paragraph of this paragraph (e)); or

(iii) inserted in the Form of Acceptance, the total number of Shares equal to that
represented by the certificates for Shares tendered for acceptance of the Offer. If
no number is inserted or a number inserted is greater or smaller than that
represented by the certificates for Shares tendered for acceptance of the Offer,
the Form of Acceptance will be returned to you for correction and resubmission.
Any corrected Form of Acceptance must be resubmitted and received by the
Shares Registrar on or before the latest time of acceptance of the Offer; or

(iv) certified by the Registrar or the Stock Exchange.

If the Form of Acceptance is executed by a person other than the registered
Shareholder, appropriate documentary evidence of authority to the satisfaction of the
Registrar must be produced.

Seller’s ad valorem stamp duty for transfer of Shares registered in the seller’s name
by the Company through the Registrar arising in connection with acceptance of the
Offer will be payable by the relevant Independent Shareholders at a rate of 0.1% of
(i) the market value of the Offer Shares; or (ii) the consideration payable by the
Offeror in respect of the relevant acceptances of the Offer, whichever is higher, will
be deducted from the cash amount payable by the Offeror to such Independent
Shareholder on acceptance of the Offer. The Offeror will arrange for payment of the
seller’s ad valorem stamp duty on behalf of the relevant Independent Shareholders
accepting the Offer and will pay the buyer’s ad valorem stamp duty in connection
with the acceptances of the Offer and the transfer of the Offer Shares in accordance
with the Stamp Duty Ordinance (Chapter 117 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

No acknowledgement of receipt of any Form of Acceptance, share certificate(s) and/
or transfer receipt(s) and/or any other document(s) of title (and/or any satisfactory
indemnity or indemnities required in respect thereof) will be given.

The address of the Registrar is Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong.
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ACCEPTANCE PERIOD AND REVISIONS

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

®

Unless the Offer has previously been revised or extended, with the consent of the
Executive, in accordance with the Takeovers Code, the Form of Acceptance must be
received by 4:00 p.m. on the Closing Date in accordance with the instructions
printed on the relevant Form of Acceptance, and the Offer will be closed on the
Closing Date.

The Offeror and the Company will jointly issue an announcement through the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company no later than 7:00 p.m. on the
Closing Date stating whether the Offer has been extended, revised or has expired.

In the event that the Offeror decides to extend the Offer, at least 14 days’ notice by
way of announcement will be given, before the latest time and date for acceptance of
the Offer, to those Independent Shareholders who have not accepted the Offer.

If the Offeror revises the terms of the Offer, all Independent Shareholders, whether
or not they have already accepted the Offer will be entitled to the revised terms. The
revised Offer must be kept open for at least 14 days following the date on which the
revised offer document is posted.

If the Closing Date of the Offer is extended, any reference in this Composite Offer
Document and in the Form of Acceptance to the Closing Date shall, except where the
context otherwise requires, be deemed to refer to the Closing Date of the Offer so
extended.

Any acceptance of the relevant revised Offer shall be irrevocable unless and until the
Independent Shareholder who accepted the Offer becomes entitled to withdraw their
acceptance under the paragraph headed “Right of Withdrawal” below duly do so.

ANNOUNCEMENT

(a)

As required under Rule 19 of the Takeovers Code, by 6:00 p.m. (Hong Kong time)
on the Closing Date (or such later time and/or date as the Executive may in
exceptional circumstances permit), the Offeror must inform the Executive and the
Stock Exchange of its decision in relation to the revision, extension or expiry of the
Offer. The Offeror must publish an announcement in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules by 7:00 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on the Closing
Date stating whether the Offer has been extended, revised or has expired.

Such announcement must state the total number of Shares and rights over Shares:
(i) for which acceptances of the Offer have been received;

(ii) held, controlled or directed by the Offeror or persons acting in concert with it
before the Offer Period; and

I
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(iii) acquired or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror or any persons acting in
concert with it during the Offer Period.

The announcement must also include details of any relevant securities (as
defined in Note 4 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers Code) in the Company which the
Offeror or any person acting in concert with it has borrowed or lent (save for any
borrowed Shares which have been either on-lent or sold) and specify the percentages
of the issued share capital of the Company and the percentages of voting rights of
the Company represented by these numbers of shares.

(b) In computing the total number of Shares represented by acceptances, only valid rcis.
acceptances in complete and good order and fulfill the acceptance conditions set out
in paragraph 1 of this Appendix, and which have been received by the Registrar no
later than 4: 00 p.m. on the Closing Date, being the latest time and date for
acceptance of the Offer, shall be included.

(c) As required under the Takeovers Code and the Listing Rules, any announcement in
relation to the Offer, in respect of which the Executive has confirmed that it has no
further comments, will be published on the website of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkex.com.hk) and the website of the Company (www.ktl.com.hk).

RIGHT OF WITHDRAWAL

(a) As the Offer is unconditional in all respects, acceptance of the Offer tendered by the Tci7
Independent Shareholders shall be irrevocable and cannot be withdrawn, except in
the circumstances set out in subparagraph (b) below.

(b) If the Offeror is unable to comply with the requirements set out in paragraph 3 of wcio2
this Appendix I headed “Announcement” above, the Executive may require pursuant
to Rule 19.2 of the Takeovers Code that the Independent Shareholders who have
tendered acceptance to the Offer be granted a right of withdrawal on terms that are
acceptable to the Executive until the requirement of Rule 19 of the Takeovers Code
can be met.

In such case, when the Independent Shareholders withdraw their acceptance(s), the
Offeror shall, as soon as possible but in any event within ten days thereof, return by
ordinary post the share certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or other document(s) of
title (and/or any satisfactory indemnity or indemnities required in respect thereof) lodged
with the Form of Acceptance to the relevant Independent Shareholder(s) at their own risk.
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5. SETTLEMENT OF THE OFFER

(a) Provided that the accompanying Form of Acceptance for the Shares, together with
the share certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or any other document(s) of title
(and/or any satisfactory indemnity or indemnities required in respect thereof) are
valid, complete and in good order and have been received by the Registrar no later
than 4: 00 p.m. on the Closing Date, a cheque for the amount due to each of the
accepting Independent Shareholder in respect of the Offer Shares tendered by him/
her/it or his/her/its agents) under the Offer (less seller’s ad valorem stamp duty
payable by him/her/it) will be despatched to the accepting Independent Shareholder
by ordinary post at his/her/its own risk as soon as possible but in any event within 7
Business Days from the date of receipt of all relevant documents (receipt of which
renders such acceptance complete and valid) by the Registrar in accordance with the
Takeovers Code.

(b) No fractions of a cent will be payable and the amount of the consideration payable to
an Independent Shareholder who accepts the Offer will be rounded up to the nearest
cent.

(c) Cheque(s) not presented for payment within six months from the date of issue of the
relevant cheques will not be honoured and be of no further effect, and in such
circumstances cheque holders should contact the Offeror for payment.

(d) Settlement of the consideration to which any accepting Independent Shareholder is
entitled under the Offer will be paid by the Offeror in full in accordance with the
terms of the Offer (save for the payment of seller’s ad valorem stamp duty) set out in
this Composite Offer Document (including this Appendix I) and the accompanying
Form of Acceptance, without regard to any lien, right of set-off, counterclaim or
other analogous right to which the Offeror may otherwise be, or claim to be, entitled
against such Independent Shareholder.

6. OVERSEAS SHAREHOLDERS

The Offeror intends to make the Offer available to all Shareholders (other than the
Offeror), including those who are residents outside Hong Kong. As the Offer to persons not
residing in Hong Kong may be affected by the laws of the relevant jurisdiction in which they
are resident, Overseas Shareholders who are citizens, residents or nationals of a jurisdiction
outside Hong Kong should obtain information about and observe any applicable legal or
regulatory requirements and, where necessary, seek legal advice in respect of the Offer.

It is the responsibility of the Overseas Shareholders who wish to accept the Offer to
satisfy themselves as to the full observance of the laws and regulations of the relevant
jurisdictions in connection with the acceptance of the Offer (including the obtaining of any
governmental or other consent which may be required or the compliance with other necessary
formalities and the payment of any transfer or other taxes due in respect of such jurisdictions).
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The Offeror, the Company and their respective ultimate beneficial owners and parties
acting in concert with any of them, CCBI, HKICM, the Independent Financial Adviser, the
Registrar, the company secretary of the Company or any of their respective directors, officers,
advisers, associates, agents or any persons involved in the Offer shall be entitled to be fully
indemnified and held harmless by the Overseas Shareholders for any taxes they may be
required to pay. Acceptance of the Offer by any Overseas Shareholder will be deemed to
constitute a warranty by such person that such person is permitted under all applicable laws
and regulations to receive and accept the Offer, and any revision thereof, and such acceptance
shall be valid and binding in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations. Any such
person is recommended to seek professional advice on deciding whether or not to accept the
Offer.

7. TAX IMPLICATIONS

Independent Shareholders are recommended to consult their own professional advisers if
they are in any doubt as to the taxation implications of their acceptance of the Offer. It is
emphasised that none of the Offeror, the Company and their respective ultimate beneficial
owners and parties acting in concert with any of them, CCBI, HKICM, the Independent
Financial Adviser, the Registrar, the company secretary of the Company or any of their
respective directors, officers, advisers, associates, agents or any persons involved in the Offer
is in a position to advise the Independent Shareholders on their individual tax implications, nor
do they accept responsibility for any taxation effects on, or liabilities of, any person or persons
as a result of their acceptance of the Offer.

8. GENERAL

(a) All communications, notices, Form of Acceptance, share certificates, transfer receipts
and other documents of title and/or of indemnity and/or of any other nature to be
delivered by or sent to or from the Independent Shareholders will be delivered by or
sent to or from them, or their designated agents, by ordinary post at their own risk,
and none of the Offeror, the Company and their respective ultimate beneficial owners
and parties acting in concert with any of them, CCBI, HKICM, the Independent
Financial Adviser, the Registrar, the company secretary of the Company or any of
their respective directors, officers, advisers, associates, agents or any persons
involved in the Offer accepts any liability for any loss or any other liabilities
whatsoever which may arise as a result thereof.

(b) Acceptance of the Offer by any person or persons will be deemed to constitute a
warranty by such person or persons to the Offeror and CCBI that the Shares tendered
under the Offer (together with all rights accruing or attaching to them as at the date
of this Composite Offer Document or subsequently being attached to them,
including, without limitation, the rights to receive all future dividends and other
distributions, declared, made or paid, if any, by the Company on or after the date on
which the Offer is made, i.e., the date of this Composite Offer Document) are sold
by such person or persons free from all encumbrances.
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APPENDIX I FURTHER TERMS OF THE OFFER

AND PROCEDURES OF ACCEPTANCE

(c)

(d)

(e)

)

(2)

(h)
(1)

Q)

Acceptance of the Offer by any nominee will be deemed to constitute a warranty by
such nominee to the Offeror that the number of Shares in respect of which it is
indicated in the Form of Acceptance is the aggregate number of Shares held by such
nominee for such beneficial owners who accept the Offer.

The provisions set out in the accompanying Form of Acceptance form part of the
terms of the Offer.

The accidental omission to despatch this Composite Offer Document and/or the
accompanying Form of Acceptance or either of them to any person to whom the
Offer is made shall not invalidate the Offer in any way.

The Offer and all acceptances will be governed by and construed in accordance with
the laws of Hong Kong.

Due execution of Form of Acceptance will constitute an authority to the Offeror and/
or CCBI and/or such person or persons as any of them may direct to complete and
execute on behalf of the person accepting the Offer, and to do any other act that may
be necessary or expedient for the purpose of vesting in the Offeror, or such person or
persons as it may direct the Shares in respect of which such person has accepted the
Offer.

The Offer is made in accordance with the Takeovers Code.

References to the Offer in this Composite Offer Document and in the Form of the
Acceptance shall include any extension and/or revision thereof.

The English text of this Composite Offer Document and of the accompanying Form
of Acceptance shall prevail over the Chinese text.

INTERPRETATION

(a)

(b)

()

A reference in this Composite Offer Document to an Independent Shareholder
includes a reference to a person(s) who, by reason of an acquisition or transfer of
Shares, is entitled to execute a Form of Acceptance and in the event of more than
one person executing a Form of Acceptance, the provisions of this Composite Offer
Document apply to them jointly and severally.

A reference in this Composite Offer Document and the Form of Acceptance to the
Offer shall include any extension and/or revision thereof.

A reference in this Composite Offer Document and the Form of Acceptance to the
masculine gender includes the feminine and neuter genders, and a reference to the
singular includes the plural, and vice versa.
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APPENDIX II

FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

1. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

Set out below is a summary of the financial information of the Group for each of the
financial years ended 31 March 2014, 2015 and 2016 and for the six months ended 30
September 2016, respectively, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group set forth in the annual reports of the Company for the relevant years, and the
unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial information of the Group for the six
months ended 30 September 2016 as extracted from the published interim report of the

Company dated 16 December 2016.

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Other income

Selling expenses
Administrative expenses

Operating (loss)/profit
Other gains/(expenses), net

Finance costs
Share of loss of a joint venture

(Loss)/profit before tax
Income tax expense
(Loss)/profit for the year

attributable to the owners of the
parent

For the six
months ended
30 September

For the year ended 31 March

2016 2016 2015 2014
(Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
(HK$°000) (HK$’000) (HK$’000) (HK$°000)
245,965 683,687 1,036,824 1,345,822
(202,167) (568,772) (856,541) (1,101,706)
43,798 114,915 180,283 244,116
1,392 4,243 6,141 5,549
(17,898) (34,152) (38,527) (50,627)
(33,946) (82,388) (99,775) (132,113)
(6,654) 2,618 48,122 66,925
4,542 (5,087) (10,293) (10,240)
(2,715) (9,172) (11,232) (12,779)
(32) 49) — —
(4,859) (11,690) 26,597 43,906
(1,514) (1,812) (6,255) (6,334)
(6,373) (13,502) 20,342 37,572
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APPENDIX II FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

For the six
months ended
30 September

2016

(Unaudited)

(HK$°000)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
to be reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent periods, net of tax

— Change of fair value of an

available-for-sale investment 309
— Exchange differences on

translation of foreign

operations (8,822)
— (Realisation)/release of exchange

fluctuation reserve upon

deregistration of a subsidiary (6,056)

For the year ended 31 March
2016 2015 2014
(Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
(HK$°000) (HK$°000) (HK$°000)

(3,550) — —

(13,045) (172) 4,090

— — 694

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year, net of tax (14,569)

(16,595) (172) 4,784

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year attributable to the
owners of the parent (20,942)

(30,097) 20,170 42,356

(Losses)/earnings per share
attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent
— Basic and diluted HK$(0.04)

(Adjusted)

HK$(0.08) HK$0.19 HK$0.72

Dividends —
Dividends per share —

The auditors of the Company for the three years ended 31 March 2016 were Ernst &
Young. Their opinions on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for each of the

three years ended 31 March 2016 were unqualified.

There were no exceptional items in respect of the consolidated financial results of the

Group for each of the aforesaid periods.

- II-2 -
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE GROUP

Unaudited condensed consolidated financial information of the Group for the period
ended 30 September 2016

Set out below is the full text of the unaudited condensed consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the period ended 30 September 2016 extracted from the
interim report of the Company for the period ended 30 September 2016.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the six months ended 30 September 2016

Six months ended
30 September
2016 2015
Notes HKS$’000 HKS$’000
(unaudited) (unaudited)

Revenue 4 245,965 368,970
Cost of sales (202,167) (310,186)
Gross profit 43,798 58,784
Other income 1,392 2,279
Selling expenses (17,898) (17,940)
Administrative expenses (33,946) (47,651)
Operating loss (6,654) (4,528)
Other gains/(expenses), net 4,542 (3,246)
Finance costs 5 (2,715) (5,267)
Share of loss of a joint venture (32) —
Loss before tax 6 (4,859) (13,041)
Income tax expense 7 (1,514) (2,120)

Loss for the period attributable
to the owners of the parent (6,373) (15,161)
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the six months ended 30 September 2016

Other comprehensive loss to be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods,
net of tax

Change in fair value of an available-for-sale
investment

Exchange differences on translation of foreign
operations

Realisation of exchange fluctuation reserve
upon deregistration of a subsidiary

Other comprehensive loss for the period,
net of tax

Total comprehensive loss for the period
attributable to the owners of the parent

Losses per share attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent:
Basic and diluted

~ 14 -

Six months ended
30 September

2016 2015
Notes HKS$’000 HKS$’000
(unaudited) (unaudited)
309 (3,788)
(8,822) (9,129)
(6,056) —
(14,569) (12,917)
(20,942) (28,078)
9 HK$(0.04) HK$(0.09)
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 30 September 2016

At At
30 September 31 March
2016 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
(unaudited) (audited)

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 175,895 183,029
Prepaid land lease payments 13,885 14,554
Prepayments for construction in progress — 54
Investment in a joint venture 345 407
Available-for-sale investment 11 14,779 14,470
Total non-current assets 204,904 212,514

Current assets

Inventories 12 124,151 92,025
Trade receivables 13 177,975 185,936
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 27,991 32,259
Tax recoverable 1,524 3,078
Prepaid land lease payments 402 415
Pledged bank deposits 56,554 86,635
Cash and bank balances 24,332 62,106
Total current assets 412,929 462,454
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At At
30 September 31 March
2016 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
(unaudited) (audited)
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 14 99,241 93,503
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 15 183,897 226,086
Obligations under finance leases 800 927
Total current liabilities 283,938 320,516
Net current assets 128,991 141,938
Total assets less current liabilities 333,895 354,452
Non-current liabilities
Obligations under finance leases 2,003 1,614
Deferred tax liabilities 221 225
Total non-current liabilities 2,224 1,839
Net assets 331,671 352,613
Equity
Equity attributable to owners of parent
Share capital 16 800 800
Reserves 330,871 351,813
Total equity 331,671 352,613
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the six months ended 30 September 2016

Attributable to the owners of the parent (unaudited)

Available-
for-sale
Statutory investment  Exchange
Share Share surplus Merger Capital revaluation fluctuation  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve reserve surplus reserve reserve profits equity
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$000
At 1 April 2016 800 60,374 6,953 1,940 105,366 (3,550) 4,105 176,625 352,613
Loss for the period — — — — — — — (6,373) (6,373)
Other Comprehensive loss
for the period:
Change in fair value of an
available-for-sale investment — — — — — 309 — — 309
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign
operations — — — — — — (8,822) — (8,822)
Realisation of exchange
fluctuation reserve upon
deregistration of a subsidiary — — — — — — (6,056) — (6,056)
Total comprehensive loss
for the period — — — — — 309 (14,878) (6,373) (20,942)
Transfer from retained profits — — 4 — — — — 4) —
At 30 September 2016 800 60,374* 6,957* 1,940%  105,366* (3,241)  (10,773)*  170,248* 331,671
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of approximately HK$330,871,000 (31

March 2016: approximately HK$351,813,000) in the condensed consolidated statement of financial

position.

At 1 April 2015

Loss for the period

Other Comprehensive loss
for the period:

Change in fair value of an
available-for-sale investment

Exchange differences on
translation of foreign
operations

Total comprehensive loss
for the period

At 30 September 2015

Attributable to the owners of the parent (unaudited)

Available-
for-sale
Statutory investment  Exchange

Share Share surplus Merger Capital revaluation fluctuation  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve reserve surplus reserve reserve profits equity
HK$'000  HK$’000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$’000
800 60,374 5,756 1,940 105,366 — 17,150 191,324 382,710
— — — — — — — (15,161) (15,161)
— — — — — (3,788) — — (3,788)
— — — — — — (9,129) — (9,129)
— — — — — (3,788) (9,129) (15,161) (28,078)
800 60,374* 5,756* 1,940%  105,366* (3,788)* 8,021%  176,163% 354,632
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the six months ended 30 September 2016

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest received

Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment

Decrease in an amount due from a joint venture

Purchase of an available-for-sale investment

Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant and
equipment

Decrease in pledged bank deposits

Net cash flows from investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank borrowings

Repayment of bank borrowings

Capital element of finance lease rental payments

Net cash flows used in financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period

Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances as stated in the condensed
consolidated statement of financial position

- II-8 —

Six months ended
30 September

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$°000
(unaudited) (unaudited)
(21,298) (47,792)
868 1,070
(3,453) (8,712)
31 —
— (18,020)

819 4,591
30,081 35,912
28,346 14,841
263,815 561,786
(306,005) (572,665)
(562) (1,000)
(42,752) (11,879)
(35,704) (44,830)
62,106 126,468
(2,070) (976)
24,332 80,662
24,332 80,662
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands
on 6 June 2014. The registered office of the Company is located at Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, Grand
Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands.

During the period, the Group was principally involved in the manufacture and sale of jewellery and
related products.

In the opinion of the Directors, the holding company of the Company is KTL International Holdings
Limited, which was incorporated in British Virgin Islands.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 11 March 2015 (the “Listing™).

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements for the Period have been prepared in
accordance with the Hong Kong Accounting Standard (“HKAS”’) 34 “Interim Financial Reporting” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and with the applicable disclosure
requirements of Appendix 16 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules™).

The condensed consolidated interim financial statements have not been audited by the Company’s
independent auditors but have been reviewed by the Company’s audit committee.

The unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention except for available-for- sale investment, which has been measured at fair values.

The significant accounting policies and basis of preparation adopted in the preparation of the unaudited
condensed consolidated interim financial statements are consistent with those used in the Group’s audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2016.

In addition, the Group has adopted, for the first time, a number of revised Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”, which also include HKASs and Interpretations) which are applicable to the
unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements for the Period. The adoption of these revised
HKFRSs has had no material effect on the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements. The
Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not
yet effective.

3. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is primarily engaged in the manufacture and sale of jewellery products. Management has
determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating decision makers, who
have been identified as the executive Directors of the Company. Information reported to the Group’s chief
operating decision makers, for the purpose of resources allocation and performance assessment, focuses on the
operating results of the Group as a whole as the Group’s resources are integrated. Accordingly, the Group has
identified one reportable operating segment, i.e. manufacture and sale of jewellery products, and no further
analysis thereof is presented.

- II-9 -
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Geographical information

Information about the Group’s revenue by geographical locations is presented based on the area or
country in which the external customer is operated.

(a) Revenue from external customers

Six months ended
30 September
2016 2015
HK$’000 HKS$’000
(unaudited) (unaudited)

Russia 19,437 99,504
Americas 134,619 166,144
Mainland China 50,305 58,381
Europe (other than Russia) 27,502 17,163
Middle East 1,983 2,837
Other countries 12,119 24,941

245,965 368,970

Information about the Group’s non-current assets, excluding available-for-sale investment, is
presented based on the locations of the assets.

(b)  Non-current assets

At At

30 September 31 March

2016 2016

HK$°000 HK$’000

(unaudited) (audited)

Mainland China 171,117 177,805
Hong Kong 19,008 20,239
190,125 198,044

The Company is domiciled in the Cayman Islands while the Group operates its business in Hong
Kong and Mainland China. During the Period, no revenue was generated from any customer in the
Cayman Islands and no assets were located in the Cayman Islands.

4. REVENUE

Revenue represents the net amounts received and receivable arising from sale of jewellery products
during the Period.

Six months ended
30 September
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000
(unaudited) (unaudited)

Sale of jewellery products 245,965 368,970
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FINANCE COSTS
An analysis of finance cost is as follows:

Six months ended
30 September

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$°000

(unaudited) (unaudited)

Interest on bank borrowings 1,934 3,293
Interest on factoring of trade receivables 711 1,896
Interest on finance leases 70 78
2,715 5,267

LOSS BEFORE TAX
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Six months ended
30 September

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$°000

(unaudited) (unaudited)

Cost of inventories sold” 166,761 242,804

Depreciation 5,298 6,336

Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments 203 216

Foreign exchange differences, net” 1,798 3,039
Realisation of exchange fluctuation reserve upon deregistration of a

subsidiary (6,056) —

(Write-back)/write-down of inventories to net realisable value” (688) 3,551

Minimum lease payments under operating lease 2,023 592

(Gain)/loss on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment” (284) 176
* These items are included in “Cost of sales” on the face of the condensed consolidated statement

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

# These items are included in “Other gains/(expenses), net” on the face of the condensed
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The statutory income tax rates for Hong Kong and Mainland China are 16.5% and 25%, respectively. A
subsidiary of the Group enjoyed a lower profit tax rate during the Period as further explained below. The
profit tax of the Group has been provided at the applicable tax rates on estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong and Mainland China during the Period.

Six months ended
30 September

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$°000

(unaudited) (unaudited)

Current — Hong Kong Charge for the period 90 19
Underprovision in prior period — 120
Current — Mainland China Charge for the period 1,428 1,936
Deferred (4) 45
Total tax charge for the period 1,514 2,120

In relation to the Departmental Interpretation and Practice Notes No. 21 (Revised) (apportionment under
a 50:50 basis) of the Inland Revenue Department Hong Kong, a portion of profits from KTL Jewellery
Trading Limited (“KTL Trading”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, is considered neither arisen
in, nor derived from Hong Kong. Accordingly, that portion of KTL Trading’s profit is not subject to Hong
Kong Profits Tax. Further, in the opinion of the Directors that portion of KTL Trading’s profit is not subject
to taxation in any other jurisdiction in which KTL Trading operates during the Period.

8. INTERIM DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of an interim dividend for the Period (six months ended
30 September 2015: Nil).

9. LOSSES PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic losses per share amounts is based on the loss for the Period attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the parent of approximately HK$6,373,000 (2015: losses of approximately
HK$15,161,000), and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue of 160,000,000 (2015:
160,000,000) which has been adjusted for the Company’s share subdivision in 22 October 2015. The
corresponding weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for the six months ended 30 September
2015 has been retrospectively adjusted on the assumption that the said share subdivision has been effective on
1 April 2015. The Group has no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the periods ended 30
September 2016 and 2015.
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Six months ended
30 September

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$°000
(unaudited) (unaudited)
Losses
Losses attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent used in the
basic losses per share calculation (6,373) (15,161)
Number of shares
Six months ended
30 September
2016 2015
(unaudited) (unaudited)
Shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period
used in the basic losses per share calculation 160,000,000 160,000,000

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the Period, the Group acquired items of property, plant and equipment with an aggregate cost of
approximately HK$4,875,000 (six months ended 30 September 2015: approximately HK$8,196,000). During
the Period, items of property, plant and equipment with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$4,049,000 (six months ended 30 September 2015: approximately HK$447,000) were disposed by the
Group.

11. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT

At At

30 September 31 March

2016 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

(unaudited) (audited)

Life insurance policy, at fair value 14,779 14,470

In June 2015, the Group entered into a life insurance policy (the “Policy”) to insure Co-Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Kei York Pang Victor. Under the Policy, the beneficiary and policy holder is the
Group and the total insured sum is approximately US$6,500,000 (approximately HK$50,375,000). The Group
paid an upfront premium for the Policy of approximately US$2,325,000 (approximately HK$18,020,000) and
may surrender any time by filing a written request and receive cash based on the surrender value of the Policy
at the date of withdrawal, which is calculated by the insurer. In the opinion of the Directors, the surrender
value of the Policy provided by the insurance company is the best approximation of its fair value, which is
categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

During the Period, the gross gain in respect of the change in fair value of the Group’s available-for-sale
investment recognised in other comprehensive loss amounted to approximately HK$309,000 (30 September
2015: loss of approximately HK$3,788,000). There was no reclassification from other comprehensive loss to
profit or loss during the Period.

The Group’s available-for-sale investment with a net carrying amount of approximately HK$14,779,000

(31 March 2016: approximately HK$14,470,000) was pledged to secure the bank borrowings of the Group as
at 30 September 2016.
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12. INVENTORIES

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

13. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables

Less: Allowance for doubtful debts

At At

30 September 31 March
2016 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000
(unaudited) (audited)
55,676 50,221

45,934 18,432

22,541 23,372
124,151 92,025

At At

30 September 31 March
2016 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000
(unaudited) (audited)
193,148 201,109
(15,173) (15,173)
177,975 185,936

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, except for new customers. Before
accepting any new customer, the Group will apply an internal credit assessment policy to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and define credit limits by customer. The credit period is generally for a period of 60
to 120 days for major customers. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables and has a treasury department to minimise the credit risk.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date

and net of provisions, is as follows:

Within 1 month
1 to 2 months
2 to 3 months
Over 3 months

At At

30 September 31 March
2016 2016
HK$’000 HK$°000
(unaudited) (audited)
63,537 46,677

25,816 23,396

25,383 41,618

63,239 74,245
177,975 185,936
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14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables
Other payables

At At

30 September 31 March
2016 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000
(unaudited) (audited)
54,714 41,927

44,527 51,576

99,241 93,503

An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date,

is as follows:

Within 1 month
1 to 2 months
2 to 3 months
Over 3 months

At At

30 September 31 March
2016 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000
(unaudited) (audited)
35,471 27,321

4,181 2,040

6,021 1,580

9,041 10,986

54,714 41,927

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and the credit period of purchases ranges from 30 to 180
days. Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of one to three months. The Group
has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit

timeframe.

15. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

At 30 September 2016

At 31 March 2016

Effective Effective
contractual contractual
interest rate Amount interest rate Amount
(%) HKS$’000 (%) HKS$°000
(unaudited) (unaudited) (audited) (audited)
Current:
Bank loans — secured 1.38-2.98 183,897 1.31-4.01 226,086
Maturity profile:
On demand 226,086

183,897

HK Interpretation 5 “Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause” requires that a loan which includes a clause that gives
the lender the unconditional right to call the loan at any time (“repayment on demand clause™) shall be
classified in total by the borrower as current in the statement of financial position. As at 30 September 2016,

approximately
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16.

HK$183,897,000 (at 31 March 2016: approximately HK$226,086,000) included a repayment on demand
clause under the relevant loan agreements, among which approximately HK$8,559,000 (at 31 March 2016:
approximately HK$9,817,000) that are repayable after one year from the end of the reporting period have
been classified as current liabilities. For the purpose of the above analysis, such loans are included within
current bank loans and analysed into bank loans repayable on demand.

The Group’s bank borrowings as at the end of the reporting period are secured by:

()

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

mortgages over the Group’s leasehold land, which had a net carrying amount at the end of the
reporting period of approximately HK$10,049,000 (at 31 March 2016: approximately
HK$10,213,000);

mortgages over the Group’s buildings, which had a net carrying amount at the end of the
reporting period of approximately HK$18,090,000 (at 31 March 2016: approximately
HK$18,893,000);

mortgages over the Group’s prepaid land lease payments, which had a net carrying amount at the
end of the reporting period of approximately HK$2,940,000 (at 31 March 2016: approximately
HK$3,086,000);

the pledge of the Group’s bank deposits at the end of the reporting period amounting to
approximately HK$56,554,000 (at 31 March 2016: approximately HK$86,635,000);

the pledge of the Group’s available-for-sale investment at the end of the reporting period
amounting to approximately HK$14,779,000 (at 31 March 2016: approximately HK$14,470,000);

and

corporate guarantees provided by the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company.

SHARE CAPITAL

At At
30 September 31 March
2016 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000
(unaudited) (audited)
Authorised:
2,000,000,000) ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each
(31 March 2016: HK$0.005 each) 10,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid:
160,000,000 (31 March 2016: 160,000,000) ordinary shares of
HK$0.005 each (31 March 2016: HK$0.005 each) 800 800

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at an extraordinary general meeting held on 22 October 2015,
the authorised shares of the Company were increased from 1,000,000,000 shares to 2,000,000,000 shares and
the issued shares of the Company were increased from 80,000,000 shares to 160,000,000 shares by
subdivision of the par value of each share of the Company originally HK$0.01 per share into HK$0.005 each,
ranking pari passu in all respects with the existing shares of the Company.
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17. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
As Lessee
The Group leases certain of its premises and office equipment under operating lease
arrangements. The leases are negotiated for terms ranging from one to five years with fixed monthly

rentals.

At 30 September 2016, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

At At

30 September 31 March

2016 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

(unaudited) (audited)

Within one year 4,409 2,825
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 3,651 4,634
8,060 7,459

18. COMMITMENTS

At 30 September 2016, in addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in Note 17, the Group
had the following capital commitments as at the end of the reporting period:

At At
30 September 31 March
2016 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000
(unaudited) (audited)

Contracted, but not provided for:
— Construction in progress 2,668 3,107
— Motor vehicle 2,332 —
5,000 3,107

19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the unaudited condensed consolidated interim
financial statements, the Group had the following material related parties transactions during the
six months ended 30 September 2016:

(i)  During the six months ended 30 September 2016, total service fees of approximately
HK$104,000 were paid to Guarantee Travel Limited, an entity controlled by a close family
member of a director of the Company, for provision of reservation services for tickets and
hotel accommodation etc. to a subsidiary of the Group. The service charges were based on
the terms and conditions mutually agreed between both parties.

(i)  During the Period, the Group’s sales to Dynamic Tactics (Hong Kong) Limited, a joint

venture of the Group, amounted to approximately HK$592,000 (2015: Nil). The sales were
based on the terms and conditions mutually agreed between both parties.
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(b)  Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

Six months ended
30 September
2016 2015
HK$°000 HK$°000
(unaudited) (unaudited)

Short-term employee benefits 6,565 6,934
Pension scheme contributions 45 48
Total compensation paid to key management personnel 6,610 6,982

20. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amount and fair value of the Group’s financial instrument, other than those with carrying
amounts that reasonably approximate to fair value, are as follows:

Carrying amount Fair value
At At At At
30 September 31 March 30 September 31 March
2016 2016 2016 2016
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
(unaudited) (audited) (unaudited) (audited)

Financial asset

Available-for-sale investment 14,779 14,470 14,779 14,470

The fair value of available-for-sale investment has been estimated at the surrender value of the Policy as
disclosed in Note 11 as at the end of reporting period. As there is no active market to demonstrate the fair
value of the available-for-sale investment, and the potential exit price in a hypothetical transfer of the
available-for-sale investment to another market participant cannot be reliably estimated. The directors believe
that the estimated fair value resulting from the surrender value, which is recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position, and the related changes in fair value, which are recorded in other
comprehensive loss, are reasonable, and that it was the most appropriate value at the end of the reporting
period.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and bank balances, pledged bank deposits, trade
receivables, financial assets included in prepayment, deposits and other receivables, trade payables, interest-
bearing bank borrowings and financial liabilities included in other payables approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair value of the non-current portion of obligations under finance leases has been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities. The fair value of the non-current portion of obligations under finance
leases at the end of the reporting period approximates to its corresponding carrying amount.

The Group followed HKFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, which introduce a three level hierarchy for

fair value measurement disclosures and additional disclosures about the relative reliability of fair value
measurements.
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The hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities into three levels based on the relative reliability of
significant inputs used in measuring the fair value of these financial assets and liabilities. The fair value
hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (the
“Unobservable Inputs™).

As at 30 September 2016, the available-for-sale investment was measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, categorised in Level 3 based on valuation techniques for which any inputs which

have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are not based on observable market data.

There were no transfers of fair value measurement between levels for the Group’s financial instrument
during the Period.

21. APPROVAL OF INTERIM FINANCIAL REPORT

The interim financial report was approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 28 November 2016.
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Audited consolidated financial information of the Group for the year ended 31

March 2016

Set out below is the full text of the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2016 extracted from the annual report of the

Company for the year ended 31 March 2016.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 March 2016

REVENUE

Cost of sales

Gross profit
Other income

Selling expenses
Administrative expenses

OPERATING PROFIT
Other expenses, net

Finance costs
Share of loss of a joint venture

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Income tax expense

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE OWNERS
OF THE PARENT
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2016 2015
Notes HKS$°000 HKS$°000
4&5 683,687 1,036,824
(568,772) (856,541)

114,915 180,283

5 4,243 6,141
(34,152) (38,527)
(82,388) (99,775)

2,618 48,122
6 (5,087) (10,293)
7 (9,172) (11,232)
49 —

8 (11,690) 26,597
11 (1,812) (6,255)
(13,502) 20,342




APPENDIX II FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

2016 2015
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS TO BE
RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR LOSS IN
SUBSEQUENT PERIODS, NET OF TAX

Change in fair value of an available-for-sale

investment (3,550) —
Exchange differences on translation of

foreign operations (13,045) (172)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (16,595) (172)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO
THE OWNERS OF THE PARENT (30,097) 20,170

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT: (Adjusted)

Basic and diluted 13 HK$(0.08) HK$0.19
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Year ended 31 March 2016

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Prepaid land lease payments
Prepayments for construction in progress
Investment in a joint venture
Available-for-sale investment

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Trade receivables

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Tax recoverable

Prepaid land lease payments

Pledged bank deposits

Cash and bank balances

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Obligations under finance leases

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES
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Notes

14
15

16
17

18
19
20

15
21
21

22
23
24

2016 2015
HK$°000 HKS$°000
183,029 197,046
14,554 15,747
54 21

407 —
14,470 —
212,514 212,814
92,025 92,791
185,936 222,414
32,259 22,429
3,078 7,135
415 436
86,635 117,655
62,106 126,468
462,454 589,328
93,503 124,624
226,086 290,482
927 1,272
320,516 416,378
141,938 172,950
354,452 385,764

Sch 1T 6(a)(ii)
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2016 2015

Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Obligations under finance leases 24 1,614 2,810
Deferred tax liabilities 25 225 244
Total non-current liabilities 1,839 3,054
Net assets 352,613 382,710
EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital 26 800 800
Reserves 27 351,813 381,910
Total equity 352,613 382,710
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 March 2016

At 1 April 2014
Profit for the year

Other comprehensive loss for the year:
Exchange differences on translation

of foreign operations

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Issue of shares on incorporation
Issue of shares in the Reorganisation

(as defined in note 2.2)

Capitalisation of an amount due to
the immediate holding company

Transfer from retained profits
Capitalisation issue of shares

Issue of shares pursuant to initial

public offering (“IPO”)
Share issue expenses

At 31 March 2015

At 1 April 2015

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive loss
for the year:

Changes in fair value of
an available-for-sale
investment

Exchange differences on
translation of foreign
operations

Total comprehensive loss
for the year

Transfer from retained profits

At 31 March 2016

Attributable to the owners of the parent

Statutory Exchange
Share Share surplus Merger Capital fluctuation  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve reserve surplus reserve profits equity
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Notes  (note 26)  (note 26)  (note 27)  (note 27)
— — 3,985 1,950 — 17,322 172,753 196,010
— — — — — — 20,342 20,342
— — — — — (172) — (172)
— — — — — (172) 20,342 20,170
26(c) 10 — — — — — — 10
26(d) 10 — — (10) — — — —
28(b) — — — — 105,366 — — 105,366
— — 1,771 — — — (1,771) —
26(e) 500 (500) — — — — — _
26(f) 280 83,720 — — — — — 84,000
26(f) — (22,346) — — — — — (22,846)
800 60,374* 5,756* 1,940%  105,366* 17,150%  191,324* 382,710
Attributable to the owners of the parent
Available-
for-sale
Statutory investment ~ Exchange

Share Share surplus Merger Capital revaluation fluctuation  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve reserve surplus reserve reserve profits equity
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000

(note 26)  (note 26)  (note 27)  (note 27) (note 17)

800 60,374 5,756 1,940 105,366 — 17,150 191,324 382,710
— — — — — — — (13,502 (13,502
— — — — — (3,550) — — (3,550
— — — — — — (13,045 — (13,045
— — — — — (3,550) (13,045) (13,502) (30,097)
— — 1,197 — — — — (1,197) —

800 60,374* 6,953+ 1,940%  105,366* (3,550)% 4,105% 176,625 352,613

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of approximately HK$351,813,000 (2015:

approximately HK$381,910,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

~ 1124 -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS Sch 1T 6(a)iii)
Year ended 31 March 2016

2016 2015
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax (11,690) 26,597
Adjustments for:
Finance costs 7 9,172 11,232
Share of loss of a joint venture 49 —
Interest income 5 (2,427) (2,380)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment 6 99 (3,626)
Depreciation 8 11,500 13,928
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments 8 425 436
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 8 2,097 906
Allowance for doubtful debts, net 8 — 7,817
Write-off of other receivables 8 — 292
Reversal of impairment loss of construction
in progress (“CIP”) 6 — (8,068)
9,225 47,134
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (2,120) 148,598
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables 34,002 (63,896)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables (14,333) (10,547)
Decrease in trade and other payables (25,084) (94,000)
Cash generated from operations 1,690 27,289
Interest paid (9,307) (11,719)
Interest element on finance lease rental payments (138) (152)
Income tax refunded/(paid) 2,079 (6,532)
Net cash flows (used in)/from operating activities (5,676) 8,886
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Net cash flows (used in)/from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest received

Purchases of items of property, plant and

equipment

Proceeds from disposal of items of property,

plant and equipment
Capital contribution to a joint venture

Increase in an amount due from a joint venture
Purchase of an available-for-sale investment
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank deposits

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of shares
Share issue expenses

Proceeds from bank borrowings
Repayment of bank borrowings

Proceeds from a finance lease contract
Decrease in an amount due to the immediate

holding company

Capital element of finance lease rental payments

Net cash flows (used in)/from financing activities

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position
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Notes

17

21

21

2016 2015
HKS$000 HK$’000
(5,676) 8,886
2,427 2,380
(10,951) (27,473)
5,065 1,534
(390) -
(100) —
(18,020) —
30,849 (10,121)
8,880 (33,680)
— 84,010
— (22,846)
904,583 1,296,408
(968,979)  (1,299,640)
— 1,950
— (10,214)
(1,474) (1,710)
(65,870) 47,958
(62,666) 23,164
126,468 103,481
(1,696) (177)
62,106 126,468
62,106 126,468
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2016

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

KTL International Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as an exempted
company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 6 June 2014. The registered office of the Company is
located at Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) were principally involved
in the manufacture and sale of jewellery and related products.

In the opinion of the directors, the holding company of the Company is KTL International Holdings
Limited (“KTL International (BVI)”), which was incorporated in British Virgin Islands.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 11 March 2015 (the “Listing”).

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name

KTL Brilliant Limited*

KTL Management Limited*

K.T.L. Development Co. Limited*

KTL (Guangzhou) Jewellery Limited**

K.T.L Jewellery Manufacturer Limited
Alan’s Jewellery Company Limited

Guangzhou KTL Jewellery Limited**

KTL Jewellery Trading Limited
(“KTL Trading”)

Guangzhou Dihe Jewellery Limited**

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and business

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

Mainland China

Hong Kong
Hong Kong

Mainland China

Hong Kong

Mainland China
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Issued
ordinary/
registered
share capital

HK$100,000

HK$10,000

HK$10,000

HK$140,000,000

HK$500,000
HKS$10,000

HK$55,000,000

HKS$10,000

HK$30,000,000

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

Direct Indirect

— 100

Principal activities

Investment holding
and provision of
car rental service

Investment holding

Investment holding
and provision of
car rental service

Manufacture of
jewellery

Trading of jewellery
Trading of jewellery

Manufacture and
trading of
jewellery

Manufacture and
trading of
jewellery and
investment
holding

Property holding
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2.1

* Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of Ernst & Young
global network.

These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the laws of the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors,
principally affected the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars
of excessive length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA™), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
available-for-sale investment which has been measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2016. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights
of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(a)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control described in the accounting policy
for subsidiaries below. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.
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If the Group losses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill)
and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 GROUP REORGANISATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Pursuant to the Group’s reorganisation (‘‘Reorganisation”) as explained in the paragraph headed
“Reorganisation” in the section headed “History, Development and Reorganisation” in the prospectus of the
Company dated 27 February 2015 (the “Prospectus™), the Company became the holding company of the
Group on 29 July 2014. The Company and its subsidiaries were under the common control of KTL
International (BVI) (“the Controlling Shareholder”) before and after the Reorganisation. Accordingly, the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2015 have been prepared on a consolidated
basis by applying the principles of merger accounting as if the Reorganisation had been completed at the
beginning of the reporting period.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2015
include the results and cash flows of all companies now comprising the Group from the earliest date presented
or since the date when the subsidiaries first came under the common control of the Controlling Shareholder
where this is a shorter period.

2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised standards for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle

The adoption of the above revised standards has had no significant financial effect on the financial
statements.
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2.4

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not

yet effective, in these financial statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments®

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations’

HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts®

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers®

Amendments to HKAS 16 and Agriculture: Bearer Plants’
HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 16 and Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
HKAS 38 Amortisation’

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiatives’

Amendments to HKFRS 10, Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception’
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28
(2011)

Amendments to HKAS 27 (2011) Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements’

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 (2011) Associate or Joint Venture®

Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of HKFRSs'

2012-2014 Cycle

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

Effective for an entity that first adopts HKFRSs for its annual financial statements beginning on
or after 1 January 2016 and therefore is not applicable to the Group

Originally effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, which has been
deferred/removed and the adoption of the amendments continues to be permitted. A new effective
date of the amendments will be determined at a future date

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs

upon initial application. The Group is not yet in a position to state whether they would have a significant
impact on the Group’s results of operations and financial position.

2.5

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investment in a joint venture

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investment in a joint venture is stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment
losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of a joint
venture is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the
joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the joint venture
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill
arising from the acquisition of a joint venture is included as part of the Group’s investment in joint
venture. When an investment in a joint venture is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair
values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non- controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the
event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other components of non- controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs
are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is
remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act
in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant

to the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is
required (other than inventories and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair
value less costs to sell and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication
that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period
in which it arises.
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Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(a)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i1)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

or
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:
(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than CIP, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts
as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property,
plant and equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold land Over the lease terms
Buildings 2% to 2.5%
Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of the lease terms and 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Office equipment and computers 20% to 331/3%
Plant and machinery 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

CIP represents a building under construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment losses,
and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs
on related borrowed funds during the period of construction. CIP is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the Group,
other than legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of
the leased asset is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held
under capitalised finance leases, including prepaid land lease payments under finance leases, are
included in property, plant and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases are charged to profit or loss so as
to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing nature are accounted for as finance
leases, but are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor
are accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating leases are
credited to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee,
rentals payable under operating leases net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged to
profit or loss on the straight- line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated at cost and subsequently
recognised on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and receivables. When financial
assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are attributable
to the acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other income and gains in profit or
loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in finance costs for loans and in other
expenses for receivables in profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial assets in listed and unlisted
equity investments and debt securities. Equity investments classified as available for sale are those
which are neither classified as held for trading nor designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
Debt securities in this category are those which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time
and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in market
conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are subsequently measured at fair
value, with unrealised gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-
sale investment revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative
gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in other income, or until the investment is
determined to be impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve to the statement of profit or loss in other gains or losses. Interest and
dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-sale financial investments are reported as interest
income and dividend income, respectively and are recognised in the statement of profit or loss as other
income in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be reliably measured because (a) the
variability in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the
probabilities of the various estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in
estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its available-for-sale financial assets
in the near term are still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these
financial assets due to inactive markets, the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets if
management has the ability and intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity.
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For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale category, the fair value carrying
amount at the date of reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on
that asset that has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of the
investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost and the
maturity amount is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If
the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified
to the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party
under a “pass-through™ arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into
a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured
at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they
will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic
conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether impairment exists
individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that
are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists
for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues
to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
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The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the loss
is recognised in profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount,
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance are written off when
there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases
because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses in profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost
(net of any principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss, is removed from other comprehensive income
and recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an

effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and
borrowings, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, financial liabilities included in other
payables, interest-bearing bank borrowings, an amount due to the immediate holding company and
obligations under finance leases.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:
Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition

and fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts that require a payment
to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of
the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and (ii)
the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the
consolidated statement of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-
in, first-out basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result
of a past event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in profit or loss.
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Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
when the revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement
to the degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;
and

(b) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents
comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection
with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the shareholders in a
general meeting. In prior years, final dividends proposed by the directors were classified as a separate
allocation of retained profits within the equity section of the consolidated statement of financial
position, until they have been approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Following the
implementation of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), proposed final dividends are
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.
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Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s
functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss
with the exception of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s net
investment of a foreign operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive income until the net
investment is disposed of, at which time the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss. Tax
charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in
other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than the Hong
Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and
their profit or loss and other comprehensive income are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of
other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for its employees in
Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which operates in Mainland China are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. This subsidiary is
required to contribute a percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside
profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or
paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and
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° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable
entity and the same taxation authority.

Dividend income derived from the Company’s Mainland China subsidiaries is subject to a
withholding tax under the prevailing tax rules and regulations of PRC.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an
expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is
released to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments
or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the grants are recorded at the fair value
of the non-monetary assets and released to profit or loss over the expected useful lives of the relevant
assets by equal annual instalments.

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no or at a below-market rate of interest
for the construction of a qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government loans is
determined using the effective interest rate method, as further explained in the accounting policy for
“Financial liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted with no or at a below-
market rate of interest, which is the difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and the
proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and released to profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.
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Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following
judgements apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Income taxes

Significant judgements on the future tax treatment of certain transactions are required in
determining income tax provisions. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions and
tax provisions are recorded accordingly. The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered
periodically to take into account all changes in tax legislation.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

(a)  Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial
assets at the end of each reporting period. Non-financial assets with finite useful lives are tested
for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in
use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data from
binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash
generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.

(b)  Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is based on estimated selling price less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal with reference to prevailing market information.
These estimates are based on the current market condition and the historical experience in selling
goods of similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes in market conditions.
The Group reassesses the estimation at the end of each reporting period. Further details are
contained in note 18 to the financial statements.

(¢)  Impairment of trade receivables

The Group maintains an allowance for the estimated loss arising from the inability of its
customers to make the required payments. The Group makes its estimates based on the ageing of
its trade receivable balances, customers’ creditworthiness, and historical write-off experience. If
the financial condition of its customers was to deteriorate so that the actual impairment loss might
be higher than expected, the Group would be required to revise the basis of making the
allowance.

(d)  Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is primarily engaged in the manufacture and sale of jewellery products. Management has
determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating decision makers, who
have been identified as the executive directors of the Company. Information reported to the Group’s chief
operating decision makers, for the purpose of resources allocation and performance assessment, focuses on the
operating results of the Group as a whole as the Group’s resources are integrated. Accordingly, the Group has
identified one reportable operating segment, i.e. manufacture and sale of jewellery products, and no further
analysis thereof is presented.

Geographical information

Information about the Group’s revenue by geographical locations is presented based on the area or
country in which the external customers are operated.

(a)

2016 2015

Revenue from external customers HK$’000 HK$’000
Americas 304,893 350,162
Russia 158,629 463,311
Mainland China 123,726 108,934
Europe (other than Russia) 58,002 70,048
Middle East 3,937 9,972
Other countries 34,500 34,397
683,687 1,036,824

Information about the Group’s non-current assets, excluding an available-for-sale investment, is
presented based on the locations of the assets.

(b)

2016 2015

Non-current assets HK$’000 HK$’000
Mainland China 177,805 190,557
Hong Kong 20,239 22,257
198,044 212,814

The Company is domiciled in the Cayman Islands while the Group operates its business in Hong
Kong and Mainland China. During the year, no revenue was generated from any customer in the
Cayman Islands and no assets were located in the Cayman Islands.

Information about major customers

Revenue from each major customer which accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue for
the year, including sales to a group of entities which are known to be under common control with that
customer, is set out below:

2016

HK$’000

Customer A 206,726

Customer B 140,277

Customer C 88,581
Customer D N/A*

2015
HK$°000

196,778

258,324
N/A*

114,555

*  Less than 10% of revenue
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REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

Revenue represents the net amounts received and receivable arising from sale of jewellery products

during the year.

2016 2015

HK$°000 HK$’000

Sale of jewellery products 683,687 1,036,824
An analysis of other income is as follows:

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$°000

Interest income from bank deposits 2,427 2,380

Government grants (Note) 1,076 2,633

Others 740 1,128

4,243 6,141

Note: Government grants were received by certain subsidiaries of the Company in Mainland China as
compensation for expenses already incurred. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies

in relation to the grants.
OTHER EXPENSES, NET

An analysis of other expenses, net, is as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HKS$’000
Foreign exchange differences, net 4,972 65
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 99 (3,626)
Sales of loose diamonds, net 16 1,150
Reversal of impairment loss of CIP — (8,068)
Listing expenses — 20,772
5,087 10,293
FINANCE COSTS
An analysis of finance costs is as follows:
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$°000
Interest on bank borrowings 5,675 7,282
Interest on factoring of trade receivables 3,359 4,572
Interest on finance leases 138 152
9,172 12,006
Less: Capitalised in CIP — (774)
9,172 11,232
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8. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2016 2015
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Cost of inventories sold 453,846 735,154
Depreciation 14 11,500 13,928
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments 15 425 436
Foreign exchange differences, net 6 4,972 65
Auditors’ remuneration
Auditors of the Company 1,600 2,180
Other auditors 163 193
1,763 2,373
Employee benefits (including directors’ remuneration
(note 9)):
Salaries and other benefits 116,742 132,536
Pension scheme contributions 10,751 11,017
127,493 143,553
Allowance for doubtful debts, net — 7,817
Write-off of other receivables — 292
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 18 2,097 906
Minimum lease payments under operating leases 1,160 1,260
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of property, plant and
equipment 6 99 (3,626)
Reversal of impairment loss of CIP 6 — (8,068)

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules™) and section 383(1)(a), (b), (¢) and (f) of

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

2016 2015

HK$°000 HK$’000

Fees 3,000 4,008
Other emoluments:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 9,001 5,611

Pension scheme contributions 54 54

9,055 5,665

12,055 9,673

During the year, no directors were granted share options (2015: Nil).
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(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the year were as follows:

2016 2015

HK$°000 HK$°000

Lo Chun Pong” 200 28
Chan Chi Kuen” 200 28
Ting Tit Cheung” 200 28
600 84

A Appointed as independent non-executive directors on 10 February 2015

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive directors during the

year (2015: Nil).

(b) Executive directors

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind  contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000
2016
Kei York Pang Victor 960 4,882 18 5,860
Li Man Chun 960 2,890 18 3,868
Kei Yeuk Lun Calan® 480 1,229 18 1,727
2,400 9,001 54 11,455
2015
Kei York Pang Victor 1,872 1,908 18 3,798
Li Man Chun 1,872 1,908 18 3,798
Kei Yeuk Lun Calan® 180 1,795 18 1,993
3,924 5,611 54 9,589

Appointed as an executive director on 21 July 2014

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration

during the year.
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2015: three) directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2015:
two) non-director highest paid employees are as follows:

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 5,327 3,701
Pension scheme contributions 36 25
5,363 3,726

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands
is as follows:

Number of employees

2016 2015

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 — 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1 —
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 — 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 1 —
2 2

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The statutory income tax rates for Hong Kong and Mainland China are 16.5% and 25%, respectively. A
subsidiary of the Group enjoyed a lower profit tax rate during the year as further explained below. The profit
tax of the Group has been provided at the applicable tax rates on estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong and Mainland China during the year.

2016 2015
HK$°000 HK$’000
Current — Hong Kong

Charge for the year 12 1,461
Underprovision in prior year 120 —

Current — Mainland China
Charge for the year 1,698 —
Overprovision in prior years — (1,005)
Deferred (note 25) (18) 5,799
Total tax charge for the year 1,812 6,255

In relation to the Departmental Interpretation and Practice Notes No. 21 (Revised) (apportionment under
a 50:50 basis) of the Inland Revenue Department Hong Kong, a portion of KTL Trading’s profits is
considered neither arisen in, nor derived from Hong Kong. Accordingly, that portion of KTL Trading’s profit
is not subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax. Further, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, that portion
of KTL Trading’s profit is not subject to taxation in any other jurisdiction in which KTL Trading operates
during the year.
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A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory rates for the
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the
effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the statutory tax rate to the effective tax rate, are as follows:

2016 2015

HK$°000 HK$°000

(Loss)/profit before tax (11,690) 26,597
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% (1,929) 4,389
Different tax rates for specific provinces or enacted by local authority 628 1,696
Income not subject to tax (40) (584)
Expenses not deductible for tax 125 4,382
Tax losses not recognised 873 469
Effect of tax impact of apportionment under a 50:50 basis 2,131 (2,200)
Utilisation of temporary differences previously not recognised (362) (906)
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised 713 440
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised (305) (12)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of previous periods 120 (1,005)
Others (142) (414)
Tax charge at the effective rate 1,812 6,255

12. DIVIDEND

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31
March 2016 (2015: Nil).

13. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share amount is based on the loss for the year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent of approximately HK$13,502,000 (2015: profit of
approximately HK$20,342,000), and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 160,000,000 (2015:
(adjusted) 107,221,918) in issue during the year as adjusted to reflect the Company’s share subdivision on 22
October 2015 as detailed in Note 26(g). The corresponding weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue for the year ended 31 March 2015 has been retrospectively adjusted on the assumption that the said
share subdivision had been effective on 1 April 2014. The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares
in issue during the years ended 31 March 2016 and 2015.

2016 2015
HK3$’000 HK$’000
(Loss)/earnings
(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent used
in the basic (loss)/earnings per share calculation (13,502) 20,342
Number of shares
2016 2015
(Adjusted)
Shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year
used in the basic (loss)/earnings per share calculation 160,000,000 107,221,918
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Office
equipment
Leasehold Leasehold Furniture and and Plant and Motor
land Buildings  improvement fixtures computers machinery vehicles CIP Total
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HKS$°000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$°000 HK$000
31 March 2016
At 31 March 2015 and
at 1 April 2015:
Cost 14,959 29,111 45911 6,684 38,094 23,791 13,564 132,575 304,689
Accumulated
depreciation (4,419) (8,777) (23,721) (5,670) (34,416) (21,844) (8,796) — (107,643)
Net carrying amount 10,540 20,334 22,190 1,014 3,678 1,947 4,768 132,575 197,046
At 1 April 2015, net of
accumulated
depreciation 10,540 20,334 22,190 1,014 3,678 1,947 4,768 132,575 197,046
Additions — — 1,426 96 1,427 840 2315 787 6,891
Depreciation provided during
the year (327 (571) (5,419) (661) (1,892) 927 (1,703) — (11,500)
Disposals — - — (18) (1) - (824) - (843)
Exchange realignment — (870) (887) (27) (75) (76) (63) (6,567) (8,565)
At 31 March 2016, net of
accumulated
depreciation 10,213 18,893 17,310 404 3,137 1,784 4,493 126,795 183,029
At 31 March 2016:
Cost 14,959 27,863 45,445 6,387 38,397 24,199 13,932 126,795 297,977
Accumulated
depreciation (4,746) (8,970) (28,135) (5,983) (35,260) (22,415) (9,439) — (114,948)
Net carrying amount 10,213 18,893 17,310 404 3,137 1,784 4,493 126,795 183,029
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31 March 2015

At 31 March 2014 and
at 1 April 2014:
Cost
Accumulated

depreciation

Impairment

Net carrying amount

At 1 April 2014, net of
accumulated
depreciation

Additions

Transfer

Depreciation provided during
the year

Disposals

Reversal of impairment

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2015, net of
accumulated
depreciation and

impairment

At 31 March 2015:
Cost
Accumulated

depreciation

Net carrying amount

The net carrying amounts of the Group’s property, plant and equipment held under

Office
equipment
Leasehold Leasehold Furniture and and Plant and Motor

land Buildings  improvement fixtures computers machinery vehicles CIP Total
HK$'000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
15,588 30,348 39,637 6,775 38,441 24,133 15,428 117,147 287,497
(4,168) (8,401 (22,805) (4,790) (32,463) (20,934) (8,916) — (102,477)
— — — — — — — (8,068) (8,068)
11,420 21,947 16,832 1,985 5,978 3,199 6,512 109,079 176,952
11,420 21,947 16,832 1,985 5,978 3,199 6,512 109,079 176,952
— — 41 2,169 79 — 26,075 28,364
— 10,509 — — — — (10,509 —
(344) (612) (4,950) (996) (4,030 (1,323) (1,673) — (13,928)
(536) (975 (192) (13) (438) (6) (68) — (2,228)
— — — — — — — 8,008 8,068
(26) O G) () ] &) (138) (182)
10,540 20,334 22,190 1,014 3,678 1,947 4,768 132,575 197,046
14,959 29,111 45911 6,684 38,094 23,791 13,564 132,575 304,689
(4,419) (8,777) (23,721) (5,670) (34,416) (21,844) (8,796) — (107,643)
10,540 20,334 22,190 1,014 3,678 1,947 4,768 132,575 197,046
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The net carrying amounts of the Group’s property, plant and equipment that were pledged to secure the
banking facilities and the bank borrowings granted to the Group as at 31 March 2016 and 2015 are as follows
(note 23(a)):

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Leasehold land 10,213 10,540
Buildings 18,893 20,334
CIP — 132,575
29,106 163,449

No reversal of impairment was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2016 (2015:
approximately HK$8,068,000). Reversal of impairment loss during the year ended 31 March 2015 represented
the write-up of the Group’s CIP to its recoverable amount, which was determined based on its approximate
fair value less cost of disposal as appraised by CBRE Limited, an independent professionally qualified valuer
with the assumptions that no guarantee is made nor is liability assumed and the external economic
environment will not be unforeseeable and significantly changed in the future.

15. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$°000

Carrying amount at beginning of the year 16,183 16,642
Recognised during the year (425) (436)
Exchange realignment (789) (23)
Carrying amount at end of the year 14,969 16,183
Current portion (415) (436)
Non-current portion 14,554 15,747

The Group’s prepaid land lease payments with a net carrying amount of approximately HK$3,086,000
(2015: HK$16,183,000) were pledged to secure the bank borrowings granted to the Group as at 31 March
2016 (note 23(a)).

16. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

2016 2015

HK$’000 HKS$’000

Share of net assets 307 —
Amount due from a joint venture 100 —
407 —

The amount due from the joint venture was unsecured, interest-free and had no fixed terms of
repayment.
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The Group’s trade receivable balance due from the joint venture is disclosed in note 19 to the financial
statements. Particulars of the Group’s joint venture are as follows:

Percentage of

Place of
Amount of registration Ownership Voting Profit Principal
Name issued capital and business interest power sharing activities
Dynamic Tactics HK$780,000 Hong Kong 50 50 50 Trading of
(Hong Kong) jewellery

Limited
The above investment is indirectly held by the Company.

17. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT

2016 2015
HK$°000 HKS$’000
Life insurance policy, at fair value 14,470 —

In June 2015, the Group entered into a life insurance policy (the “Policy”) to insure Co-Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Kei York Pang Victor. Under the Policy, the beneficiary and policy holder is the
Group and the total insured sum is approximately US$6,500,000 (approximately HK$50,375,000). The Group
paid an upfront premium for the Policy of approximately US$2,325,000 (approximately HK$18,020,000) and
may surrender any time by filing a written request and receive cash based on the surrender value of the Policy
at the date of withdrawal, which is calculated by the insurer. In the opinion of the directors, the surrender
value of the Policy provided by the insurance company is the best approximation of its fair value, which is
categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

During the year, the gross loss in respect of the change in fair value of the Group’s available-for-sale
investment recognised in other comprehensive loss amounted to approximately HK$3,550,000 (2015: Nil).

There was no reclassification from other comprehensive loss to profit or loss during the year.

The Group’s available-for-sale investment with a net carrying amount of approximately HK$14,470,000
(2015: Nil) was pledged to secure the bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2016 (note 23(a)).

18. INVENTORIES

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials 50,221 55,167
Work in progress 18,432 20,325
Finished goods 23,372 17,299
92,025 92,791

The write-down of inventories to net realisable value of approximately HK$2,097,000 (2015:
approximately HK$906,000) for the year is included in “‘cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 201,109 237,587
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (15,173) (15,173)
185,936 222,414

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, except for new customers. Before
accepting any new customer, the Group will apply an internal credit assessment policy to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and define credit limits by customer. The credit period is generally for a period of 60
to 120 days for major customers. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables and has a treasury department to minimise the credit risk.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date
and net of provisions, is as follows:

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 month 46,677 47,460
1 to 2 months 23,396 26,847
2 to 3 months 41,618 33,221
Over 3 months 74,245 114,886
185,936 222,414

Trade receivables of approximately HK$15,173,000 (2015: approximately HK$15,173,000) were
individually determined to be impaired as at 31 March 2016. The individually impaired trade receivables
relate to customers that were in unexpected financial difficulties and it is assessed that only a portion of the
receivables is expected to be recovered. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over these balances. The movements in the allowance for doubtful debts are as follows:

2016 2015

HK3$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of the year 15,173 7,356
Allowance for doubtful debts — 8,620
Reversal of allowance for doubtful debts — (803)
At end of the year 15,173 15,173

The ageing analysis of trade receivables at the end of the reporting period that are not individually nor
collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

2016 2015

HK$°000 HKS$’000

Neither past due nor impaired 146,129 160,056
Less than 61 days past due 38,580 55,553
61 to 120 days past due 1,209 5,897
Over 120 days past due 18 908
185,936 222,414
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Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers that
have a good track record with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change
in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables is an amount due from the Group’s joint venture of
approximately HK$531,000 (2015: Nil), which is repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to the
major customers of the Group.

20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$°000

Prepayments 3,686 3,744
Deposits 2,200 1,062
Other receivables 26,373 17,623
32,259 22,429

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The financial assets included in the above
balances relate to receivables for which there was no recent history of default.

21. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

2016 2015
HK$’000 HKS$’000
Total cash and bank balances, including pledged bank deposits 148,741 244,123
Less: Pledged bank deposits for bank borrowings
and facilities (note 23(a)) (86,635) (117,655)
Non-pledged cash and bank balances 62,106 126,468
Denominated in:
HKS$ 29,681 70,935
Renminbi (“RMB”) 28,025 25,271
US$ 4,392 30,255
Euro 8 7
62,106 126,468

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits
are made for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances
and pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However, under Mainland China’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2016 2015

HK$’000 HKS$’000

Trade payables 41,927 60,014
Other payables 51,576 64,610
93,503 124,624

An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date,
is as follows:

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 month 27,321 15,385
I to 2 months 2,040 2,884
2 to 3 months 1,580 2,654
Over 3 months 10,986 39,091
41,927 60,014

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and the credit period of purchases ranges from 30 to 180
days. Other payables are non- interest-bearing and have an average term of one to three months. The Group
has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit
timeframe.

23. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

2016 2015
Effective Effective
contractual contractual
interest rate interest rate
(%) Amount (%) Amount
HK$’000 HK$°000
Current:
Bank loans — secured 1.31-4.01 226,086 2.34-8.10 290,482
Maturity profile:

On demand 226,086 290,482

HK Interpretation 5 “Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause” requires that a loan which includes a clause that gives
the lender the unconditional right to call the loan at any time (“repayment on demand clause™) shall be
classified in total by the borrower as current in the statement of financial position. As at 31 March 2016,
approximately HK$226,086,000 (2015: approximately HK$290,482,000) included a repayment on demand
clause under the relevant loan agreements, among which approximately HK$9,817,000 (2015: approximately
HK$2,500,000) that were repayable after one year from the end of the reporting period had been classified as
current liabilities. For the purpose of the above analysis, such loans are included within current bank loans
and analysed into bank loans repayable on demand.
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(a)  The Group’s bank borrowings as at the end of the reporting period are secured by:

(1)

(ii)

(iii)

@iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

mortgages over the Group’s leasehold land, which had a net carrying amount at the end of
the reporting period of approximately HK$10,213,000 (2015: approximately
HK$10,540,000) (note 14);

mortgages over the Group’s buildings, which had a net carrying amount at the end of the
reporting period of approximately HK$18,893,000 (2015: approximately HK$20,334,000)
(note 14);

mortgages over the Group’s prepaid land lease payments, which had a net carrying amount
at the end of the reporting period of approximately HK$3,086,000 (2015: approximately
HK$16,183,000) (note 15);

mortgages over the Group’s CIP, which had a net carrying amount at the end of the
reporting period of nil (2015: approximately HK$132,575,000) (note 14);

the pledge of the Group’s bank deposits at the end of the reporting period amounting to
approximately HK$86,635,000 (2015: approximately HK$117,655,000) (note 21);

the pledge of the Group’s available-for-sale investment at the end of the reporting period
amounting to approximately HK$14,470,000 (at 31 March 2015: Nil) (note 17); and

corporate guarantees provided by the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company
(note 35(a)).

(b)  The bank borrowings and overdraft were denominated in the following currencies:

HKS$

US$

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$°000
69,505 136,506
156,581 153,976
226,086 290,482

24. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

The Group leases certain of its motor vehicles and office equipment for its operations. These leases are
classified as finance leases and have remaining lease terms ranging from one to five years as at the end of the
reporting period. All leases are on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered into for
contingent rental payments. The Group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor’s charge
over the leased assets.
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25.

As at 31 March 2016, the total future minimum lease payments under finance leases and their present
values were as follows:

Minimum lease payments

Present value of minimum
lease payments

2016 2015 2016 2015
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HKS$°000
Amounts payable:
Within one year 1,021 1,417 927 1,272
In the second year 752 1,255 692 1,157
In the third to fifth years, inclusive 953 1,748 922 1,653
Total minimum finance lease payments 2,726 4,420 2,541 4,082
Future finance charges (185) (338)
Total net finance lease payables 2,541 4,082
Portion classified as current liabilities (927) (1,272)
Non-current portion 1,614 2,810
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as follows:
Loss available
for offsetting
future taxable Impairment
Provisions profits loss Total
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
At 1 April 2014 3,306 241 2,017 5,564
Deferred tax charged
during the year (note 11) (3,673) (109) (2,017) (5,799)
Exchange realignment O] — — ©)]
At 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015 (376) 132 — (244)
Deferred tax charged
during the year (note 11) 29 (11) — 18
Exchange realignment 1 — — 1
At 31 March 2016 (346) 121 — (225)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared
to foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
As at 31 March 2016 and 2015, no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in Mainland China. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will
distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
amounted to approximately HK$41,999,000 (2015: HK$37,743,000) as at 31 March 2016.
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As at 31 March 2016, the Group has deductible temporary differences of approximately HK$5,470,000
(2015: approximately HK$3,671,000), of which approximately HK$3,559,000 contributed by the Hong Kong
subsidiaries. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary differences as
it is not certain whether taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences
can be utilised.

As at 31 March 2016, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately HK$13,288,000 (2015:
approximately HK$7,163,000), of which approximately HK$688,000 (2015: approximately HK$1,863,000)
attributable to the subsidiaries in Mainland China, will expire after five years of accounting year when the
losses were incurred. The remaining balance can be carried forward indefinitely. Deferred tax assets have not
been recognised in respect of these losses as they have been arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making
for some time and it is not considered probably that taxable profits will be available against which the tax
losses can be utilised.

26. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

2016 2015
HK$°000 HK$’000
Authorised:
2,000,000,000 (2015: 1,000,000,000) ordinary shares of HK$0.005
each (2015: HK$0.01 each) 10,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid:
160,000,000 (2015: 80,000,000) ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each
(2015: HK$0.01 each) 800 800
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A summary of movements in the Company’s authorised and issued share capital and share premium as

follows:
Number of
Shares in Share
issue Share capital premium Total
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Authorised:
As at 6 June 2014 (date of
incorporation) (a) 38,000,000 380 — 380
Increase in authorised share capital on
10 February 2015 (b) 962,000,000 9,620 — 9,620
As at 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015 1,000,000,000 10,000 — 10,000
Subdivision of shares (g) 1,000,000,000 — — —
As at 31 March 2016 2,000,000,000 10,000 — 10,000
Issued and fully paid:
Issue of shares on incorporation (c) 1,000,000 10 — 10
Issue of shares in the Reorganisation (d) 1,049,180 10 — 10
Capitalisation issue of shares (e) 49,950,820 500 (500) —
Issue of shares pursuant to IPO (f) 28,000,000 280 83,720 84,000
Share issue expenses (f) — — (22,846) (22,846)
As at 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015 80,000,000 800 60,374 61,174
Subdivision of shares (g) 80,000,000 — — —
As at 31 March 2016
160,000,000 800 60,374 61,174

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

The authorised share capital of the Company at the date of incorporation was HK$380,000
divided into 38,000,000 ordinary shares of a par value of HK$0.01 each.

Pursuant to a resolutions passed on 10 February 2015, the authorised share capital of the
Company was increased from HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000 shares to HK$10,000,000
divided into 1,000,000,000 shares.

On the date of incorporation, one ordinary share of HK$0.01 was issued and credited as fully paid
to the Company’s initial subscriber, and was subsequently transferred to KTL International (BVI),
and on the same day, 999,999 ordinary shares of a par value of HK$0.01 each were issued and
allotted to KTL International (BVI).

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 29 July 2014, a total of 1,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each were issued at par by the Company to KTL International (BVI) in return for
acquisition of Info Dragon Trading Limited (“Info Dragon”), Golden Charter Management Corp.
(“Golden Chapter”), Landclick Properties Limited (“‘Landclick”), Rich Delta Resources Limited
(“Rich Delta”) and True Success International Limited (“True Success”) in the Reorganisation.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 10 September 2014, a total of 49,180 ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each were issued at par by the Company to Mr. Cheung Chi Kong Ringo, Ms.
Kwong Ying Wah Monita, Mr. Lam Pak Kan, Mr. Pang Tsz Fung, Mr. Pang Chun Lai and Mr.
Leung Hong Fai in the Reorganisation.
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27.

(¢) On 11 March 2015, 49,950,820 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were allotted and issued,
credited as fully paid at par, by way of capitalisation from the share premium account
immediately before the Listing. This allotment and capitalisation issue were conditional on the
share premium account being credited as a result of the issue of new shares to the public in
connection of the Company’s IPO as detailed in note (f) below.

(f)  In connection with the Company’s IPO, 28,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued
at a price of HK$3.00 per share for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of
HK$84,000,000. Dealings in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange commenced on
11 March 2015.

(g) Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at an extraordinary general meeting held on 22 October
2015, the authorised shares of the Company were increased from 1,000,000,000 shares to
2,000,000,000 shares and the issued shares of the Company were increased from 80,000,000
shares to 160,000,000 shares by subdivision of the par value of each share of the Company
originally HK$0.01 each into HK$0.005 each, ranking pari passu in all respects with the existing
shares of the Company.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are

presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity of the financial statements.

28.

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the relevant law and regulations in the PRC, each of the subsidiaries of the
Company that was registered in the PRC is required to appropriate 10% of the annual statutory profit
after tax (after offsetting any prior years’ losses), determined in accordance with the PRC General
Accepted Accounting Principles, to the statutory reserve until the balance of the reserve funds reaches
50% of the entity’s registered capital. The statutory reserve can be utilised to offset prior years’ losses
or to increase capital, provided the remaining balance of the statutory reserve is not less than 25% of
the registered capital.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group represents the reserves arising from the Reorganisation for the
purpose of the Listing.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Major non-cash transactions

(a) The Group entered into finance lease arrangements in respect of items of property, plant and
equipment with a total capital value at the inception of the leases of nil during the year (2015:

approximately HK$3,439,000).

(b)  On 28 July 2014, a balance due to the immediate holding company of the Company amounting to
approximately HK$105,366,000 was capitalised as equity of the Group.

(c)  Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 29 July 2014, a total of 1,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each were issued at par by the Company to KTL International (BVI) in return for
acquisition of Info Dragon, Golden Charter, Landclick, Rich Delta and True Success in the
Reorganisation.
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29. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
As lessee

The Group leases certain of its premises and office equipment under operating lease
arrangements. The leases are negotiated for terms ranging from one to five years with fixed monthly
rentals.

At 31 March 2016, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

2016 2015

HK$°000 HK$°000

Within one year 2,825 134
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 4,634 —
7,459 134

30. COMMITMENTS

At 31 March 2016, in addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 29 above, the Group
had the following capital commitments at the end of the reporting period:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted, but not provided for:
CIP 3,107 3,966

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the
following material transactions with related parties during the year:

(i) During the year, total service fee of approximately HK$33,000 (2015: approximately
HK$985,000) were paid to Guarantee Travel Limited, an entity controlled by a close family
member of a director of the Company, for provision of reservation services for tickets and
hotel accommodation etc. to a subsidiary of the Group. The service charges were based on
the terms and conditions mutually agreed between both parties.

(i)  During the year, the Group’s sales to Dynamic Tactics (Hong Kong) Limited, a joint
venture of the Group, amounted to approximately HK$547,000 (2015: Nil). The sales were
based on the terms and conditions mutually agreed between both parties.

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties:

Details of the Group’s amount due from its joint venture and trade balance with its joint venture
are disclosed in notes 16 and 19 to the financial statement, respectively.
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(¢) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

2016 2015

HK$’000 HKS$’000

Short-term employee benefits 16,728 13,129
Pension scheme contributions 90 104
Total compensation paid to key management personnel 16,818 13,233

Further details of directors’ remuneration are included in note 9 to the financial statements.

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting

period are as follows:

Financial assets

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000
Available-for-sale financial asset:
Available-for-sale investment 14,470 —
Loans and receivables:
Trade receivables 185,936 222,414
Financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables 24,663 16,341
Pledged bank deposits 86,635 117,655
Cash and bank balances 62,106 126,468
373,810 482,878
Financial liabilities
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Trade payables 41,927 60,014
Financial liabilities included in other payables 49,074 58,858
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 226,086 290,482
Obligations under finance leases 2,541 4,082
319,628 413,436

- 1I-63 -



APPENDIX II FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

33. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amount and fair value of the Group’s financial instrument, other than those with carrying
amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, is as follows:

Carrying amount Fair value
2016 2015 2016 2015
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
Financial asset
Available-for-sale investment 14,470 — 14,470 —

The fair value of available-for-sale investment has been estimated at the surrender value of the Policy as
disclosed in Note 17 as at the end of reporting period. As there is no active market to demonstrate the fair
value of the available-for-sale investment, and the potential exit price in a hypothetical transfer of the
available-for-sale investment to another market participant cannot be reliably estimated. The directors believe
that the estimated fair value resulting from the surrender value, which is recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position, and the related changes in fair value, which are recorded in other
comprehensive loss, are reasonable, and that it was the most appropriate value at the end of the reporting
period.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and bank balances, pledged bank deposits, trade
receivables, financial assets included in prepayment, deposits and other receivables, trade payables, interest-
bearing bank borrowings and financial liabilities included in other payables approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair value of the non-current portion of obligations under finance leases has been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities. The fair value of the non- current portion of obligations under finance
leases at the end of the reporting period approximates to its corresponding carrying amount.

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial
instruments:

Asset measured at fair value:
As at 31 March 2016

Fair value measurement using

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Available-for-sale investment — — 14,470 14,470

The Group did not have any financial assets measured at fair value as at 31 March 2015.

~ 11-64 —



APPENDIX II FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

The movements in fair value measurement within Level 3 during the year are as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HKS$’000

Available-for-sale investment:
At 1 April — —
Addition 18,020 —
Total loss recognised in other comprehensive loss (3,550) —
At 31 March 14,470 —

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 March 2016 and
31 March 2015.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2
and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities (2015: Nil).

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, comprise interest- bearing bank borrowings, obligations
under finance leases, cash and short term bank deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The Group’s exposure to market risk (including interest rate risk and foreign currency risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk arises in the normal course of its business. These risks are managed by the Group’s financial
management policies and practices described below:

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk relates principally to the Group’s bank borrowings
which are based on the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate and London Interbank Offered Rate. The
Group mitigates the risk by monitoring closely the movements in interest rates and reviewing its
banking facilities regularly. The Group has not used any interest rate swap to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk.

As at 31 March 2016, if the interest rates on borrowings had been 50 basis points higher/lower,
which was considered reasonably possible by management, with all other variables held constant, the
loss after tax for the year would have been increased/decreased by approximately HK$1,000,000 (2015:
profit after tax decreased/increased by approximately HK$1,289,000) as a result of higher/lower interest
expenses on bank borrowings.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from sales or purchases by
operating units in currencies other than the units’ functional currencies. The Group manages its foreign
currency risk by closely monitoring the level of foreign currency balances. The Group currently has not
entered into any foreign currency forward contracts to hedge against foreign currency risk. Management
will consider hedging foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and monetary liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies, i.e. currency other than the functional currency of the respective group entities,
which are mainly trade receivables, other receivables, bank balances, trade and other payables,
obligations under finance leases and bank borrowings, at the end of the reporting period are
approximately as follows:

Assets Liabilities
2016 2015 2016 2015
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000
US$ 142,902 198,821 199,307 217,378
RMB 80,695 104,200 233 388

Since HKS$ is pegged to US$, the Group does not expect any significant movements in HK$/US$
exchange rate.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the RMB
exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s (loss)/profit after tax.

Increase/ Decrease/
(decrease) in  (increase) in
RMB rate loss after tax

% HK$°000

2016
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens against the RMB 5% 3,359
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens against the RMB (5%) (3,359)
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) in
(decrease) in profit after
RMB rate tax
% HK$°000

2015
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens against the RMB 5% 4,334
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens against the RMB (5%) (4,334)

Credit risk

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents and trade receivables represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets. All the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents are held in major financial institutions located in the PRC and Hong Kong, which
management believes are of high credit quality. The Group has policies in place to evaluate credit risk
when accepting new business and to limit its credit exposure to individual customers. The directors
consider that the Group does not have a significant concentration of credit risk.
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Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and credit lines to meet its liquidity requirements. The
Group finances its working capital requirements through a combination of funds generated from
operations and other borrowings.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s non- derivative financial
liabilities at the end of the reporting period based on contractual undiscounted payments including

interest payments computed using contractual rates.

31 March 2016

On demand

or less than
1 year Over 1 year Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
Non-interest-bearing payables 91,001 — 91,001
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 226,086 — 226,086
Obligations under finance leases 1,021 1,705 2,726
318,108 1,705 319,813

31 March 2015

On demand

or less than
1 year Over 1 year Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Non-interest-bearing payables 118,872 — 118,872
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 290,482 — 290,482
Obligations under finance leases 1,417 3,003 4,420
410,771 3,003 413,774

As detailed in note 23 to the financial statements, as at 31 March 2016, bank borrowings in the
amount of approximately HK$226,086,000 (2015: approximately HK$290,482,000) are included in the
current portion of the interest-bearing bank borrowings. The relevant loan agreements of these
borrowings include a repayment on demand clause which gives the bank the unconditional right to call
the loan at any time and therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity profile, the said amount is
classified as “On demand or less than one year”. Notwithstanding the repayment on demand clause, the
directors believe that the loans will not be called in their entirety within one year, and consider that the
borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the maturity date as set out in the loan agreements. In
accordance with the terms of the loan agreements, the maturity profiles of the loans as at the end of the
reporting period were spread with, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, as below:

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

On demand or within one year 216,269 287,982
In the second year 2,159 2,143
In the third to fifth years, inclusive 5,405 357
Over five years 2,253 —
226,086 290,482
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Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in
economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, or sell assets to reduce debt. No changes in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital were made during the years ended 31 March 2016
and 2015.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on a regular basis. As part of this
review, the management considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the management, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends as well as issue of new debt or the redemption of the debt.

The Group monitors capital using, inter alias, a gearing ratio which is net debt divided by total
equity plus net debt. Net debt includes interest-bearing bank borrowings and obligations under finance
leases, less cash and bank balances. The gearing ratio as at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2016 2015

HK$°000 HK$’000

Interest-bearing bank borrowings 226,086 290,482
Obligations under finance leases 2,541 4,082
Cash and bank balances (62,106) (126,468)
Net debt 166,521 168,096
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 352,613 382,710
Total equity plus net debt 519,134 550,806
Gearing ratio 32.1% 30.5%
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period
is as follows:

2016 2015

HK$°000 HK$’000
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries 143,155 120,698
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and bank balances 14,485 45,403
Due from a subsidiary 46,878 16,052
Prepayments 38 —
Total current assets 61,401 61,455
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Financial guarantee liabilities (note a) 15,487 12,292
Due to subsidiaries 602 —
Total current liabilities 16,089 12,292
NET CURRENT ASSETS 45,312 49,163
Net assets 188,467 169,861
EQUITY
Share capital 800 800
Reserves (note b) 187,667 169,061
Total equity 188,467 169,861
Notes:

(a) As at 31 March 2016, the banking facilities with carrying amount of approximately
HK$565,562,000 (2015: HK$745,368,000) granted to certain subsidiaries of the Group by the
banks were guaranteed by the Company and were utilised to the extent of approximately
HK$226,666,000 (2015: HK$359,500,000). Management has assessed the fair value of these
guarantees and has recognised financial guarantee liabilities initially at fair value and
subsequently at amortised cost. As at 31 March 2016, the financial guarantee liabilities of
approximately HK$15,487,000 (2015: HK$12,292,000) was recognised by the Company.
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(b) A summary of the Company’s reserve is as follows:

Share Merger Capital Retained
premium reserve surplus  earnings Total
HK$°000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$’000  HK$ 000
As at 6 June 2014 (date of
incorporation) — — — — —
Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year — — — 1,381 1,381
Issue of shares in the
Reorganisation — 1,940 105,366 — 107,306
Capitalisation issue of shares
(note 26(e)) (500) — — — (500)
Issue of shares pursuant to [PO
(note 26(f)) 83,720 — — — 83,720
Share issue expenses (note 26(f)) (22,846) — — — (22,846)
As at 31 March 2015 60,374 1,940 105,366 1,381 169,061
Income and total comprehensive
income for the year — — — 18,606 18,606
As at 31 March 2016 60,374 1,940 105,366 19,987 187,667

36. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Mr. Kei Yeuk Lun Calan, an executive director of the Company and the existing sales and marketing
director of the Group, has been appointed as the deputy chief executive officer and chief sales and marketing
officer with effect from 1 May 2016 and will be responsible for assisting Mr. Kei York Pang Victor, an
executive Director and the chief executive officer, in the overall management of sales and marketing,
administration and operations of the Group, primarily in business development, international sales, China
sales, marketing product design and development, and procurement.

37. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 June

2016.
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3. INDEBTEDNESS

As at the close of business on 30 November 2016, being the latest practicable date for the
purpose of ascertaining information contained in this statement of indebtedness and contingent
liabilities prior to the printing of this Composite Offer Document, the details of the Group’s
indebtedness is as follows:

As at
30 November
2016
HK$’000
Bank and other borrowings: (Unaudited)
Bank borrowings

— secured 187,819
187,819

Obligations under finance lease
— current 748
— non-current 1,858
2,606
Total 190,425

As at close of business on 30 November 2016, the Group had outstanding secured bank
borrowings of approximately HK$187,819,000. All bank borrowings with corporate guarantees
provided by the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Save as aforesaid and apart from intra-group liabilities, normal trade and other payables as
at the close of business on 30 November 2016, the Group did not have any other loan capital
issued or agreed to be issued, bank overdrafts, loans, debt securities issued and outstanding,
and authorised or otherwise created but unissued and term loans or other borrowings,
indebtedness in the nature of borrowings, liabilities under acceptance (other than normal trade
bills) or acceptance credits, debentures, mortgages, charges, finance lease or hire purchase
commitments, which are either guaranteed, unguaranteed, secured or unsecured, guarantees or
other material contingent liabilities outstanding at the close of business on 30 November 2016.

The Directors confirmed that, save as disclosed, there have not been any material changes
to the indebtedness and contingent liabilities since 30 November 2016 and up to the Latest
Practicable Date.
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4. MATERIAL CHANGE

The Directors have confirmed there were no material change in the financial or trading schns@m
position or outlook of the Group since 31 March 2016, being the date to which the latest
published audited accounts of the Company were made, up to and including the Latest
Practicable Date.
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1. RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors jointly and severally accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the
information contained in this Composite Offer Document (other than that relating to the
Offeror, the directors of the Offeror, the proposed Directors nominated by the Offeror to the
Board, their associates and parties acting in concert with any of them, the terms and conditions
of the Offer and the intention of the Offeror regarding the Group) and confirm, having made
all reasonable inquiries, that to the best of their knowledge, opinions expressed in this
Composite Offer Document (other than opinions expressed by the Offeror, the directors of the
Offeror, the proposed Directors nominated by the Offeror to the Board, their associates and
parties acting in concert with any of them) have been arrived at after due and careful
consideration and there are no other facts not contained in this Composite Offer Document, the
omission of which would make any statement in this Composite Offer Document misleading.

2. SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY
(a) Authorised and issued share capital

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the authorised and issued share capital of the
Company were as follows:

Authorised: HKS$

2,000,000,000 Shares of HK$0.005 each 10,000,000.00
Issued and fully paid:

160,000,000 Shares of HK$0.005 each 800,000.00

All of the Shares currently in issue rank pari passu in all respects with each other,
including, in particular, as to rights in respect of capital, dividends and voting.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company did not have any outstanding options,
warrants, derivatives or securities carrying conversion or subscription rights that would
affect the issued share capital of the Company.

No Shares have been issued since 31 March 2016, being the date to which the latest
audited financial statements of the Company were made up.

(b) Listing

The Shares are listed and traded on the main board of the Stock Exchange. No part
of the Shares is listed or dealt in, nor is any listing of or permission to deal in the Shares
being or proposed to be sought on any other stock exchange.
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3. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS Seh I 1

Sch 11 2(ii)

(a) Interests of the Directors in the Shares or securities of the Company

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the interests of the Directors in the Shares were as

follows:

Approximate
percentage of
the existing
Total number issued share
of Shares capital of
Name of Director Nature of Interest interested  the Company
(%)
Kei York Pang Victor Interest in persons acting 98,304,016 61.44

(Note) in concert
Li Man Chun (Note) Interest in persons acting 98,304,016 61.44

in concert

Note: The Vendor is presumed to be acting in concert with the Purchaser under class (9) of the
definition of “acting in concert” in the Takeovers Code. Kei York Pang Victor and Li Man Chun
are therefore deemed to be interested in these Shares under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors were
interested in any Shares or any securities, convertible securities, warrants, options or
derivatives in respect of any Shares or securities of the Company.

(b) Other Interests
As at the Latest Practicable Date,

(i) none of the Company, any member of the Group or any of the Directors was s 2
interested in any shares, convertible securities, warrants, options or derivatives
in respect of the shares of the Offeror;

(ii)) none of the subsidiaries of the Company, pension funds of the Company or of scnm 26
any member of the Group, and any advisers to the Company as specified in
class (2) of the definition of “associate” under the Takeovers Code, but
excluding exempt principal traders (as defined under the Takeovers Code),
owned or controlled any Shares or any securities, convertible securities,
warrants, options or derivatives in respect of any Shares or securities of the
Company;

(iii) no Shares or any securities, convertible securities, warrants, options Or scim2w
derivatives in respect of any Shares or securities of the Company were
managed on a discretionary basis by fund managers (other than exempt fund
managers) connected with the Company; and
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(iv)

none of the Company nor any Directors had borrowed or lent any Shares or any
securities, convertible securities, warrants, options or derivatives in respect of
any Shares or securities of the Company.

SHAREHOLDINGS AND DEALINGS IN SECURITIES

(a) During the Relevant Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date,

4.
(1)
(i1)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)
5.

save for the sale of the Sale Shares under the Sale and Purchase Agreement,
none of the Directors had dealt for value in, any Shares or any securities,
convertible securities, warrants, options or derivatives in respect of any Shares
or securities of the Company;

none of the Company and the Directors had owned or controlled, or had dealt
for value in, any shares or any securities, convertible securities, warrants,
options or derivatives in respect of the shares or securities of the Offeror;

none of the subsidiaries of the Company, pension funds of the Company or of
any member of the Group or any advisers to the Company as specified in class
(2) of the definition of ‘“associate” under the Takeovers Code but excluding
exempt principal traders (as defined under the Takeovers Code) had owned or
controlled, or had dealt for value in, any Shares or any securities, convertible
securities, warrants, options or derivatives in respect of any Shares or securities
of the Company;

save for the Sale and Purchase Agreement, and the undertaking entered into by
the Vendor, the Guarantors and Mr. Kei Yeuk Lun Calan in favour of the
Offeror on 21 December 2016, no person had any arrangement of the kind
referred to in Note 8 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers Code with the Company or
with any person who was an associate of the Company by virtue of classes (1),
(2), (3) and (4) of the definition of “associate” under the Takeovers Code; and

no Shares or any securities, convertible securities, warrants, options or
derivatives in respect of any Shares or securities of the Company were
managed on a discretionary basis by fund managers (other than exempt fund
managers) connected with the Company and no such person had dealt for value
in any Shares or any securities, convertible securities, warrants, options or
derivatives in respect of any Shares or securities of the Company.

OTHER ARRANGEMENTS RELATING TO THE OFFER

As at the Latest Practicable Date save for the Sale and Purchase Agreement, and the
undertaking entered into by the Vendor, the Guarantors and Mr. Kei Yeuk Lun Calan in favour
of the Offeror on 21 December 2016, there was no arrangement of the kind referred to in the
third paragraph of Note 8 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers Code which existed between the
Company, or any person who was an associate of the Company by virtue of classes (1), (2), (3)
and (4) of the definition of “associate” under the Takeovers Code, and any other person.
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6. ARRANGEMENTS AFFECTING AND RELATING TO DIRECTORS

As at the Latest Practicable Date:

(a)

(b)

(c)

no benefit (other than statutory compensation) would be given to any Director as
compensation for loss of office or otherwise in connection with the Offer;

save for the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the undertaking entered into by the
Vendor, the Guarantors and Mr. Kei Yeuk Lun Calan in favour of the Offeror on 21
December 2016, there was no agreement or arrangement between any Director and
any other person which was conditional or dependent upon the outcome of the Offer
or otherwise connected with the Offer; and

save for the Sale and Purchase Agreement, there was no material contract entered
into by the Offeror in which any Director had a material personal interest.

7. SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company had entered into the following service
agreements and letters of appointment with the Directors:

(a)

(b)

(c)

the service agreement dated 10 February 2015 entered into between the Company
and Mr. Kei York Pang, Victor, pursuant to which Mr. Kei York Pang, Victor was
appointed as an executive Director for a period of three years commencing from 11
March 2015 to 10 March 2018 and entitled to receive an annual remuneration of
HK$960,000, and a discretionary year-end bonus and other non-cash benefits as may
be determined by the Board with reference to his performance and the performance
of the Company;

the service agreement dated 10 February 2015 entered into between the Company
and Mr. Li Man Chun, pursuant to which Mr. Li Man Chun was appointed as an
executive Director for a period of three years commencing from 11 March 2015 to
10 March 2018 and entitled to receive an annual remuneration of HK$960,000, and a
discretionary year-end bonus and other non-cash benefits as may be determined by
the Board with reference to his performance and the performance of the Company;

the service agreement dated 10 February 2015 entered into between the Company
and Mr. Kei Yeuk Lun, Calan, pursuant to which Mr. Kei Yeuk Lun, Calan was
appointed as an executive Director for a period of three years commencing from 11
March 2015 to 10 March 2018 and entitled to receive an annual remuneration of
HK$480,000, and a discretionary year-end bonus and other non-cash benefits as may
be determined by the Board with reference to his performance and the performance
of the Company;
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(d) the letter of appointment dated 10 February 2016 entered into between the Company
and Mr. Ting Tit Cheung, pursuant to which Mr. Ting Tit Cheung was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director for a period of one year commencing from 10
February 2016 to 9 February 2017 and entitled to receive a director’s fee of
HK$200,004 per annum;

(e) the letter of appointment dated 10 February 2016 entered into between the Company
and Mr. Chan Chi Kuen, pursuant to which Mr. Chan Chi Kuen was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director for a period of one year commencing from 10
February 2016 to 9 February 2017 and entitled to receive a director’s fee of
HK$200,004 per annum; and

(f) the letter of appointment dated 10 February 2016 entered into between the Company
and Mr. Lo Chun Pong, pursuant to which Mr. Lo Chun Pong was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director for a period of one year commencing from 10
February 2016 to 9 February 2017 and entitled to receive a director’s fee of
HK$200,004 per annum.

Save as disclosed above, as at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors had
entered into any service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries or associated
companies which (i) (including both continuous and fixed-term contracts) had been entered
into, or amended within six months before the date of commencement of the Offer Period; (ii)
was a continuous contract with a notice period of 12 months or more; (iii) was a fixed term
contract with more than 12 months to run irrespective of the notice period; or (iv) was not
determinable by the employer within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

As at the Latest Practicable Date, a subsidiary of the Company had entered into a tenancy
agreement dated 1 July 2016 with Mr. Li Man Chun, pursuant to which Mr. Li Man Chun as
the landlord had let certain premises to the subsidiary of the Company for a period of 18
months commencing from 1 July 2016 to 31 December 2017 and Mr. Li Man Chun is entitled
to receive a monthly rental of HK$130,000 (“Lease Agreement”). Mr. Li Man Chun is also
entitled to use the premises as staff quarters at the cost of the Company during his
employment. Since each of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) for the
Lease Agreement is less than 5% with annual total consideration of the Lease Agreement less
than HK$3,000,000, the transaction above constitutes de minimis continuing connected
transaction under 14A.76 of the Listing Rules, which is fully exempted from shareholders’
approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements applicable under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

8. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Group has not entered into any material contracts
(being a contract not entered into in the ordinary course of business carried on or intended to
be carried on by any member of the Group) have been entered into by the members of the
Group after the date two years before the commencement of the Offer Period up to and
including the Latest Practicable Date and which are or may be material.
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9. LITIGATION

As at the Latest Practicable Date, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries was
engaged in any litigation or arbitration of material importance and, so far as the Directors are
aware, no litigation or claims of material importance is pending or threatened by or against the
Company and any of its subsidiaries.

10. QUALIFICATIONS AND CONSENTS OF EXPERTS

The following are the qualifications of the expert(s) who have given its report, opinion or
advice which are contained in this Composite Offer Document:

Name Qualifications

Veda Capital Limited a corporation licensed by the SFC to conduct type 6

(advising on corporate finance) regulated activities
under the SFO

Sch IT 8

Veda Capital Limited has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the issue of schu
this Composite Offer Document with the inclusion herein of its letter, report and references to
its name, in the form and context in which they are included.

11. GENERAL

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

®

The registered office of the Company is at Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1108, Cayman Islands.

The principal place of business in Hong Kong of the Company is at Unit 1207, Fu
Hang Industrial Building, 1 Hok Yuen Street East, Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The company secretary of the Company is Mr. Chau Chi Lai, who is a Chartered
Financial Analyst charterholder, a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountant, a member of American Institute of Certified Public
Accountant.

The Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office of the Company is Tricor
Investor Services Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong.

The registered office of Veda Capital Limited is at Room 1106, 11/F., Wing On
Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong.

The English texts of this Composite Offer Document and the Form of Acceptance
shall prevail over the Chinese texts, in case of any inconsistency.
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12. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

Copies of the following documents will be available for inspection (i) during normal
business hours from 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. (other than Saturdays, Sundays and public
holidays) at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Unit 1207, Fu
Hang Industrial Building, 1 Hok Yuen Street East, Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong; (ii) on
the website of the SFC (www.sfc.hk); and (iii) on the website of the Company
(www.ktl.com.hk) during the period from the date of this Composite Offer Document onwards
for as long as the Offer remain open for acceptance:

(a)
(b)
(©)
(d)
(e)

®

(2)

(h)

(1)

the memorandum of association and articles of association of the Company;

the annual report of the Company for the financial year ended 31 March 2015;
the annual report of the Company for the financial year ended 31 March 2016;
the interim report of the Company for the six months ended 30 September 2016;

the letter from the Board, the text of which is set out on pages 14 to 19 of this
Composite Offer Document;

the letter from the Independent Board Committee, the text of which is set out on
pages 20 to 21 of this Composite Offer Document;

the letter from the Independent Financial Adviser, the text of which is set out on
pages 22 to 41 of this Composite Offer Document;

the letter of consent referred to in the paragraph headed “10. QUALIFICATIONS
AND CONSENTS OF EXPERTS” in this Appendix III; and

each of the service contracts referred to in paragraph headed “7. SERVICE
CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS” in this Appendix III.
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1. RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The directors of the Offeror jointly and severally accept full responsibility for the
accuracy of the information contained in this Composite Offer Document (other than the
information relating to the Group, the Vendor and the Guarantors) and confirm, having made
all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge, opinions expressed in this
Composite Offer Document (other than those expressed by the Group, the Vendor and the
Guarantors) have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and there are no other
facts not contained in this Composite Offer Document, the omission of which would make any
statements in this Composite Offer Document misleading.

The directors of HNA Group jointly and severally accept full responsibility for the
accuracy of the information contained in this Composite Offer Document (other than the
information relating to the Group, the Vendor and the Guarantors) and confirm, having made
all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge, opinions expressed in this
Composite Offer Document (other than those expressed by the Group, the Vendor and the
Guarantors) have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and there are no other
facts not contained in this Composite Offer Document, the omission of which would make any
statements in this Composite Offer Document misleading.

2. MARKET PRICES

The table below shows the closing price of the Shares quoted on the Stock Exchange on
(i) the last day on which trading took place in each of the calendar months during the Relevant
Period; (ii) the Last Trading Day; and (iii) the Latest Practicable Date.

Closing price

Date per Share
HK$
2016
30 June 2.97
29 July 3.20
31 August 3.70
30 September 3.80
31 October 3.71
30 November 4.21
13 December (being the Last Trading Day) 4.76
30 December 6.04
2017
24 January (being the Latest Practicable Date) 6.04
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During the Relevant Period:

(a)

(b)

the highest closing price of the Shares as quoted on the Stock Exchange was
HK$6.04 per Share on 30 December 2016, 6 January 2017, 9 January 2017 and 24
January 2017; and

the lowest closing price of the Shares as quoted on the Stock Exchange was
HK$2.94 per Share on 8 July 2016, 11 July 2016, 12 July 2016.

3. SHAREHOLDINGS AND DEALINGS IN SECURITIES

As part of the consideration for the purchase of the Sale Shares under the Sale and
Purchase Agreement will be settled after Completion as disclosed in the Joint Announcement,
the Vendor is presumed to be acting in concert with the Offeror under class (9) of the
definition of “acting in concert” in the Takeovers Code.

Save for the sale and purchase of the Sale Shares under the Sale and Purchase Agreement
as disclosed in the “LETTER FROM CCBI” in this Composite Offer Document, as at the
Latest Practicable Date:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

none of the Offeror, its directors, its shareholder and its ultimate beneficial owners
had any interests in any Shares, convertible securities, warrants, options or any
derivatives in respect of such securities, or had dealt for value in any Shares,
convertible securities, warrants, options and derivatives of the Shares of the
Company during the Relevant Period;

none of the Offeror or any persons acting in concert with it owned or controlled any
Shares, convertible securities, warrants, options or any derivatives in respect of such
securities, or had dealt for value in any Shares, convertible securities, warrants,
options and derivatives of the Shares of the Company during the Relevant Period;

no person who owned or controlled any Shares or any convertible securities,
warrants, options or derivatives in respect of any Shares had irrevocably committed
themselves to accept or reject the Offer;

none of the Offeror or any parties acting in concert with it has entered into any
arrangements of the kind referred to in Note 8 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers Code
with any other person; and

none of the Offeror or any parties acting in concert with it has borrowed or lent any
Shares or other securities of the Company carrying voting rights or convertible
securities, warrants, options or derivatives of the Company.
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4. OTHER ARRANGEMENTS IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFER

(a) as at the Latest Practicable Date, the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it did Tc sch 1-1
not and had no agreement, arrangement or understanding to transfer, charge or
pledge any of the Shares acquired pursuant to the Offer to any other persons;

(b) as at the Latest Practicable Date, no benefits were to be given to any of the Directors Tc sch1-13
as compensation for loss of office or otherwise in connection with the Offer;

(c) as at the Latest Practicable Date, there was no agreement, arrangement OI TC schi-14
understanding (including any compensation arrangement) that exists between the
Offeror or any person acting in concert with it and any Directors, recent Directors,
Shareholders or recent Shareholders having any connection with or dependence upon
the Offer; and

(d) as at the Latest Practicable Date, there was no agreement or arrangement to which Tc sch 1-14a
the Offeror and/or parties acting in concert with it is a party which relates to
circumstances in which it may or may not invoke or seek to invoke a condition to
the Offer.

5. QUALIFICATIONS AND CONSENTS OF EXPERTS

The following are the qualifications of the expert(s) who have given its report, opinion or
advice which are contained in this Composite Offer Document:

Name Qualifications

CCBI A licensed corporation under the SFO for carrying out
business in type 1 (dealing in securities), type 4
(advising on securities) and type 6 (advising on
corporate finance) regulated activities

HKICM A licensed corporation under the SFO for carrying out
business in type 4 (advising on securities), type 6
(advising on corporate finance) and type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities

Each of the above experts has given and has not withdrawn their respective written
consents to the issue of this Composite Offer Document with the inclusion herein of their
letters, reports and references to their names, in the form and context in which they are
included.
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6. GENERAL

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

®

The principal members of the Offeror’s concert group are the Offeror and HNA
Group. The Offeror is an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of HNA Group. The
directors of the Offeror are Mr. Wu Hao and Mr. Li Rui. The directors of HNA
Group are Mr. Chen Feng, Mr. Wang Jian, Mr. Li Xianhua, Mr. Tan Xiangdong, Mr.
Chen Wenli, Mr. Lu Ying, Mr. Zhang Ling, Mr. Huang Qijun, Mr. Xin Di, Mr. Tang
Liang and Mr. Tong Fu.

The registered office of the Offeror is situated at PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands and the correspondence address of the Offeror
is situated at 26/F, Three Pacific Place, 1 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

The registered office of HNA Group is situated at 25th Floor, HNA Plaza, No. 7 Guo
Xing Road, Haikou, Hainan Province, China and the correspondence address of HNA
Group is at 26/F, Three Pacific Place, 1 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

The principal business address of CCBI is at 12/F., CCB Tower, 3 Connaught Road
Central, Central, Hong Kong.

The principal business address of HKICM is at 26/F, Three Pacific Place, 1 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong.

The English texts of this Composite Offer Document and the Form of Acceptance
shall prevail over the Chinese translations in the case of inconsistency.

7. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

Copies of the following documents will be available for inspection (i) during normal
business hours from 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. (other than Saturdays, Sundays and public
holidays) at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Unit 1207, Fu
Hang Industrial Building, 1 Hok Yuen Street East, Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong; (ii) on
the website of the SFC (www.sfc.hk); and (iii) on the website of the Company
(www.ktl.com.hk) during the period from the date of this Composite Offer Document onwards
for as long as the Offer remain open for acceptance:

(a)
(b)

(©)

(d)

the memorandum and articles of association of the Offeror;

the letter from CCBI as set out in the section headed “Letter from CCBI” in this
Composite Offer Document;

the written consents from CCBI and HKICM respectively as referred to in the
paragraph headed “6. EXPERTS’ QUALIFICATIONS AND CONSENTS” in this
Appendix IV; and

a copy of this Composite Offer Document.
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